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District of Mission 
British Columbia, Canada 

Recipient of GFOA Award for Excellence in Financial Reporting since 2006 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the 
United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Canadian 
Award for Financial Reporting to the District of Mission 
for its annual financial report for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2014.  The Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting program was established to encourage 
municipal governments throughout Canada to publish 
high quality financial reports and to provide peer 
recognition and technical guidance for officials 
preparing these reports. 

In order to be awarded a Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting, a government unit must publish an easily 
readable and efficiently organized annual financial 
report, whose contents conform to program standards.  
Such reports go beyond the minimum requirements of 
generally accepted accounting principles and 
demonstrate an effort to clearly communicate the 
municipal government’s financial picture, enhance an 
understanding of financial reporting by municipal 
governments, and address user needs. 

A Canadian Award for Financial Reporting is valid for a 
period of one year only.  We believe our current report 
continues to conform to the Canadian Award for 
Financial Reporting program requirements, and we are 
submitting it to the GFOA for consideration. 

Communi es in Bloom Award ‐ Five Blooms (Bronze) for the 2015 Communi es 

in Bloom Compe on.  With this award, Mission placed second amongst 

communi es across Canada with popula ons between 20,000 and 50,000. 

Photo credits: 
Department page photos: various staff members 
Front cover:  Simon Chornick 
Back Cover: Jamie Scoville, A Walk in the Forest 
Other Photos: photo credits noted  
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Message from Council 
 

As Council we support and approve this annual 
report, the District’s audited 2015 financial 
statements, and the reporting on our progress 
toward our initial Strategic Plan. 

Our initial strategic objectives set out bold goals 
over key themes and while good progress has 
been made on many of our goals, we have much 
work left to do. 

In support of enhanced lifestyle and recreational 
opportunity we have continued to develop the 
Stave West Master Plan, fund a new skate park, 
and artificial turf field.  The newly formed Parks 
and Recreation Advisory Committee is ready to 
begin consulting with the community to provide 
input to Council on opportunities to enhance experiences in our public spaces. 

We funded three new RCMP members which has enabled our police chief, Inspector De Jager to 
implement a prolific offender team which we believe will reduce property crime in Mission.  We are also 
working closely with the Stone Soup initiative to help our homeless and mentally ill/addicted population 
get the help they need to improve their situation.  

Steps have been taken to ensure that our sewer, water and drainage infrastructure is managed in a way 
to avoid catastrophe and our paving budget has been increased to keep our roads from becoming a 
huge cost in the future. 

The Official Community Plan (OCP) update process has begun, which is critical as we see growth sweep 
across the Fraser Valley as a result of skyrocketing prices in the greater Vancouver area.  Public 
consultation has already taken place in several neighbourhoods.  The OCP is expected to be finalized 
later in 2016. 

Council and senior staff are reviewing our comprehensive strategic plan to ensure it meets the needs of 
our community into the future.  We have extremely strong staff and we thank them for their consistent 
and excellent service.  

Sincerely, 

 

 

2014-2018 Council 

Mayor Randy Hawes, Councillors Alexis, Hamilton, Hinds, Nicholson, Plecas, and Stevens 

Mayor Randy Hawes, Councillors Carol Hamilton, Rhett Nicholson, 
Pam Alexis, Jim Hinds, Jenny Stevens, Danny Plecas . Photo credit:: 
Wendy D Photography 
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Mayor and Council 

Back row L-R: Councillors Rhett Nicholson, Jenny Stevens; Jim Hinds, Danny Plecas 

 Front row L-R: Councillor Pam Alexis, Mayor Randy Hawes, Councillor Carol Hamilton 

Photo credit: Wendy D Photography 

Mission’s Mayor and Councillors were elected for a four-year term in the November municipal election of 2014. 
The next municipal election will take place in the fall of 2018.  

The Mayor chairs the meetings of Council (about four meetings per month), and all decisions are expressed 
either by a Council Resolution or a Bylaw.  Many of the matters which Council considers are forwarded through 
the recommendations of the various Standing Committees.  

Each Council member is appointed or sits on certain boards and external committees, select and standing   
committees, commissions and task forces including the following: 

 Community Wellness Committee 

 Cultural Resources Commission 

 Downtown Mission Business Association 

 Economic Development Select Committee 

 Emergency Planning Committee 

 Experience the Fraser Committee 

 Fraser Valley Regional District Board of Directors 
and Hospital Board of Directors  

 Fraser Valley Regional and Corporate Services 
Committee 

 Fraser Valley Regional District/Fraser Health 
Authority-Mission Community Health Project-
Project Building Committee  

 Fraser Valley Regional Library Board 

 Fraser Valley Aboriginal Relations Committee 

 Joint Shared Services Committee 

 LMLGA Flood Control and River 
Management Committee 

 Mission Association for Senior Housing 

 Mission Community Foundation 

 Mission Community Heritage Commission 

 Mission Healthy Community Council 

 Mission International Cultural Association 

 Mission Regional Chamber of Commerce 

 Mission Sports Council 

 Mission Traffic & Transit Committee 
 Next Generation Civic Engagement 

Committee 

 Senior’s Centre Association 

 Stave West Working Group 

 Young Adult Engagement Committee 
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Strategic Plan 
This report on Council’s Strategic Objectives represents the accomplishment made within Council’s first full year in 
office.  

  

Mission Statement 
Our purpose is to build a safe, healthy and inclusive community that is abundant in economic, cultural and 
recreational opportunities. 

 
Strategic Goals 
1. Lifestyle - Increased and Enhanced Recreation and Lifestyle Opportunities 

2. Financial Objectives  - Financial Sustainability through Diversified & Optimized Revenue, clearly communicated 

3. Economic Development - Increase Investment and Economic Development 

4. Social Issues - Support Excellent Quality of Life for Citizens 

5. Public Safety - Ensure a Safe Environment for all Citizens 

Student’s conducting fish count at Silverdale Creek Wetlands                                                                                                          Photo credit:  Mike Scudder 
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Lifestyle  
Increased and enhanced recreation and lifestyle opportunities. 

Project / Initiative Status 

Implement Stave West 
Master Plan 

Welcome staff and overnight security for summer of 2015.  Closures due to 
wildfire risk impacted overall progress on recreation development. 

New skate park Park funded, site selected, construction to begin in 2016. 

Artificial turf field and 
running track 

Site selected, final design and pre-qualification process underway. 

Rationalize (equitable and 
fair process) fee for service 
grant applications and tax 
exemptions 

Completed. New policy, FIN.50 adopted. Further review and adjustment to be 
considered in 2016. 

Project / Initiative Status 

Establish a fair and 
consistent utility billing 
program related to secondary 
suites 

Phase One of program initiated. 

Drainage reserve established 
to save for future upgrades 
and replacement 

Drainage Capital Reserve Fund established. 

Healthy reserves Council and staff have worked to continuously ensure the health of reserves. 

Financial Objectives 
Financial sustainability through diversified and optimized revenue, clearly communicated. 

Economic Development 
Increase investment and economic development. 

Project / Initiative Status 

Develop tourism forum with 
industry experts and operators 

Completed. Development of a tourism marketing plan and establishment of 
a standalone destination marketing organization to be completed in 2016. 

Develop a business retention 
and expansion strategy 
including tour and interface 
with Council 

Council participated in 21 business visits in 2015. 16 business recruitment 
expansion visits scheduled in 2016, and the strategy is under development. 

Encourage expanded 
educational opportunities for 
skills training leading to 
employment 

Ongoing.  Working with Riverside College, SRCTec, University of the Fraser 
Valley and Simon Fraser University to develop skills training/educational 
opportunities. 

Partner to support technology 
business incubator 

Completed. Co-located Economic Development with SRCTec, Technology 
Centre Exchange and Venture Accelerator. 

Explore expanding film 
industry in Mission  

Ongoing.  Sector responsibility transferred to Economic Development as 
exploration of external film-liaison and strategy for growth continues. 
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Project / Initiative Status 

Hire more officers - continue 
to deliver on priority of 
enhanced safety 

Officers hired according to Council’s ongoing evaluation of need. 
  

Establish a coordinated 
approach to communications 
on community safety 

Forum hosted to share news and engage community. 
 

Civic Engagement & Corporate Initiatives department supporting RCMP 
forums. 

RCMP facility upgrades Significant upgrades are complete including new security equipment, cell 
block, ancillary building, and upper floor building envelope. 

Project / Initiative Status 

Establish a good neighbour 
bylaw 

Report to Council. Final bylaw to come to Council in 2016  for consideration. 

Explore options and strategies 
to reduce homelessness in 
Mission 

Ongoing.  Noteworthy early success of Stone Soup initiative to bring 
together community partners to address related issues. 

Public Safety 
Ensure a safe environment for all citizens. 

Social Issues 
Support excellent quality of life for citizens. 

Nighttime filming,  Rocko’s  Family Diner becomes the iconic Pop’s Chock’lit Shoppe                  Photo credit:  Simon  Chornick 
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Community Profile 
The District of Mission continues to be one of the fastest 
growing communities in BC with a current population 
estimated at 38,500.  Mission is a dynamic and diverse 
community with a rich history and lifestyle that offers 
stunning mountain vistas, the Fraser River and one of only 
two municipally managed forests in British Columbia. This 
gives easy access to a host of outdoor recreational activities 
including mountain biking, boating, world class salmon and 
sturgeon fishing, golf, hiking trails, and parks. 

It is all about community here in Mission and nothing brings 
us together like one of the many events occurring 
throughout the year including the Mission Folk Festival, 
Fraser River Bald Eagle Festival, Twilight Concert Series 
and the Christmas Candlelight Parade. 

Situated only 70 kilometres east of Vancouver and 17 
kilometres north of the United States of America border, 
Mission is a prime location for access to main transit routes 
with quick connections to rail, water, air, and land 
transportation corridors.  

Mission continues to attract investors, business and 
families offering quality amenities, attractions, a competitive 
cost of living and a great quality of life. 

70 kilometers to Vancouver from Mission 

17 kilometers to 
the US Border 
from Mission 
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Milestones 
2015 was a year of significant milestones for the District of Mission. 

Council initiated a District of Mission Student Leadership Award, to recognize students for their contribution and 
leadership to the community, their school, and among their peers.  The inaugural awards were presented to Riley 
Weymann of Heritage Park Secondary School, Maxine Harvey of Hatzic Secondary School, and Tamara Bourgeouis of 
Mission Secondary School.  

The Sumas Regional Consortium for High Tech (SRCTec) has moved to Mission and is located in the same building as 
the Mission Economic Development Office and Community Futures North Fraser, creating a hub for business and 
entrepreneurialship.  The District has recently partnered with SRCTec to develop and promote the Tech Starts Here 
campaign to attract technology based start ups and businesses to Mission.   

The District of Mission was awarded over $150,000 in grants towards the Heritage Park Centre’s community gym floor 
replacement, Mill Pond Park upgrades, fitness equipment replacements, healthy activity programming, speed reader 
boards, to help control speeding on Mission’s streets, asset management system project, and a study for a senior 
centre project. 

Mission Annual Folk Festival celebrated its 28th year of holding a 3-day folk festival showcasing local and international 
performers to Mission.  The Mission Hospice Society celebrated their 30 year anniversary, assisting citizens and their 
family members, with a peaceful place to spend in their last days.  

The Sasquatch Lions Club which hands out donations to local groups and charities each year, reached a historic 
milestone donation amount of $1 million with the Mission Hospice Society receiving the special cheque. 

Basketball and Mission seem to go hand-in-hand as Joby McKenzie, a graduate of Hatzic Secondary School, was 
inducted into the Basketball BC Hall of Fame for her contribution to Simon Fraser University’s most successful 
university women’s basketball team, including four trips to National Championships, and Kim Smith Gaucher,  a 
graduate of Heritage Park Secondary School, is part of the Canadian National Women’s Basketball Team who won 
gold at the Pan Am Games held in July in Toronto, Ontario, and gold at the 2015 FIBA Americas Women’s 
Championship, securing the team a spot at the 2016 Olympics to be held in Rio. 

Mission’s artists are recognized internationally as Peter Gong, a First Nation’s artist, provided a handmade bentwood 
box, made of red and yellow cedar, for his nephew who created a hand-painted Fu Dog design onto the box.  This gift 
was presented to President Xi of China from the City of Seattle.  

Mission was proud to be able to lend a helping hand after a 7.8 magnitude 
earthquake hit Nepal.  Fire Chief Watkinson and Assistant Chief MacLeod, 
along with their search dogs, were part of a 24-member team of rescue 
experts from around the Fraser Valley who went to Nepal to help with rescue 
efforts. 

A number of projects have been started that are expected to be completed in 
2016.  An Artificial Turf Field is planned for the Rotary Sports Park and 
information sessions were held  to inform the public of the design, layout and 
funding.  A new Skateboard Park is being developed within the current 
Leisure Centre property with input from skateboard park users.  Skateboard 
users are also fundraising for the Park “extras” and to allow them ownership 
of the Park.  The Official Community Plan consultation process “Make It Your 
Mission” has started with public input gathering sessions and surveys to 
obtain the community’s vision to help shape the future of Mission.   The 
completion of these three projects will ensure Mission becoming a first class 
community. Totem in progress at Xa:ytem Longhouse  

Interpretive Centre      Photo credit:  Sandee Dupas 
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Message from the  
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

2015 was a year of significant accomplishments and change for the District of Mission.  I was honoured to be 
brought on as the CAO for the District this past year and, since joining, I have had the pleasure of working with great 
staff and a progressive Council on moving the community forward. 

Over the year we have developed the capacity to better serve our citizens and businesses.  A number of key 
positions were filled in time to meet the increased demand for building permits, development applications and 
general inquiries.  Although filling a number of vacant positions has helped address this demand, there is still a lot of 
work needed to catch up and make changes for improvements in the future. 

Some of the milestones and accomplishments of 2015 include: 

 Phase One of the Corporate Asset Management system was completed. 
 The Economic Development office was relocated to the Welton Street building providing greater exposure 

to the business community. 
 The District’s partnership with SRCTec and the launch of the Tech Starts Here campaign has helped bring 

a number of new technology businesses to our community. 
 The Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee was established to advise Council on matters related to 

community parks, trails, recreation programs, and other services.  
 Social Development work included the Stone Soup initiative and the redevelopment of an advisory 

committee that supports community health and well-being. 
 The District of Mission, RCMP and Mission Community Services jointly approached the issue of mental 

health and homelessness with the Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) Team. 
 Implementation of the recommendations in the Stave West Master Plan continued. 
 There was a change to the Animal Control service in that it is now provided by the Fraser Valley Regional 

District. 
 Infrastructure projects included improvements to Grand Street, the Gill Avenue Bridge, the Leisure Centre, 

and the RCMP building, and roof replacements on Fire Hall No. 2 and Fraser House. 
 In 2015, the District’s waste audit showed that the amount of compostable material in the curbside garbage 

has declined from 50% to 28% since in the introduction of the rot pot in 2011.   
 Our Forestry operations logged 46,000 m3 in 2015, resulting in a net profit of $300,000. 
 Forestry also partnered with the Fire Department on the purchase of a bush truck to address firefighting 

needs in the forested areas. 

Overall, 2015 was a very busy year. I look forward to working with Council to implement their goals and objectives in 
2016 and I thank all District staff for their dedication, professionalism and commitment to excellence.  It is an honour 
to work with them in service of this remarkable community.     

 

 

        Ron Poole, 
        Chief Administrative Officer 
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Organizational Chart 
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Corporate Services 
The Corporate Services functions include Corporate Administration, Human Resources, Information Technology 
Services, Civic Engagement and Corporate Initiatives, Finance and Purchasing. 

corporate administration 

The Corporate Administration Department is responsible for overseeing the District’s overall operation in 
accordance with the policies and procedures adopted by Council. The department is also responsible for fulfilling 
the statutory corporate administration responsibilities and duties required by the Community Charter. 

Responsibilities 

  Ensure the District remains committed to achieving social, financial and environmental sustainability while 
aligning the organization to Council’s Strategic Plan initiatives 

 Ensure that accurate minutes of Council and Council committee meetings are prepared and that the minutes, 
bylaws, and other records of the business of the municipality are maintained and kept safe 

 Oversee the District’s corporate records management program 
 Manage and coordinate matters related to land and legal issues 
 Achieve Council’s directives and remain focused on the goals put forth to ensure we continue to be an 

organization that inspires excellence and leads by example 
 Generate efficiencies and continually improves service delivery to our citizens and businesses by providing 

exceptional service and implementing more effective and consistent engagement of our community 

 Process requests for information under the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act 
 Provide administration support for Council members 
 Monitor the treaty negotiation process to protect local District of Mission interests 

 

Highlights  

 Appointed new Chief Administrative Officer, Ron Poole, in May and new Deputy Chief Administrative Officer, 
Mike Younie, in September. 

 Deputy Corporate Officer, Jennifer Russell, was presented with a Certificate in Local Government Service 
Delivery from the Provincial Board of Examiners. 

 

 

human resources   

Human Resources staff provide specialized advice and assistance to all District employees.   Human Resources 
provides expertise for all employees in order to remain a competitive employer and fostering a culture that 
attracts and retains high-calibre staff for the District of Mission. 

Responsibilities 

  Administer the District’s Occupational Health and Safety Program 

 Oversee employee and labour relations matters 

 Provide support to employees in regards to compensation and benefits 

 Develop and manage the corporate training program and manage employee development programs 
  

Highlights  

 Conducted 37 internal union recruitment processes. 
 Managed 29 external recruitment processes, including reviewing over 3,000 resumes. 
 Arranged for flu shot clinics to keep our employees healthy during the flu season. 
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Corporate Services 
information technology services  

Information Technology staff provides municipal departments with support and assistance related to the computer 
and telephone systems within the District.  

Responsibilities 

  Coordinate and follow through on short and long-term strategic plans including acquisition of corporate 
computer equipment, IT services and telecommunications equipment/services 

 Ensure the effective operation of the District's information technology infrastructure 
 Evaluate and recommend the capabilities of hardware and software applications for the municipality and its 

interaction with the citizens of Mission 
 Manage and support numerous computer applications including the District’s financial systems, recreation 

programs, online applications and GIS mapping system 
 Administer and operate the District’s computer and telephone systems 
 Provide corporate data recovery and security services 
 Host the District’s website 
 

Highlights  
 Completed the upgrade and replacement of Cisco VOIP telephone system servers and routers. 
 Acquired and implemented a Corporate email archiving solution. 
 Implemented a high-performance, dedicated SQL server in support of the  District’s Enterprise database 

applications. 
 Completed the upgrade and replacement of a segment of the Corporate private fiber optic network. 
 Acquired and implemented new LAN management software in Information Services. 
 Flash memory upgrade completed to Storage Area Network (SAN) to optimize performance.  

 
 

civic engagement & corporate initiatives 

The Civic Engagement & Corporate Initiatives department is responsible for leading corporate projects within the 
District and connecting with the community to help grow a more prosperous, livable Mission. Staff and Council are 
committed to involving the people they serve in the decisions that affect them.  This office is also responsible for 
communication activities, both internal and external and manages the District’s brand. 

Responsibilities 

 Lead corporate projects focused on organizational development and community enhancement 
 Raise citizen and business awareness and understanding of municipal initiatives, programs and operations 
 Develop and promote opportunities for public engagement and feedback 
 Develop, coordinate and implement civic engagement strategies based on Council’s strategic direction 
 Educate the public and find ways to work with and involve the community with the many large, long-term 

programs that the District is involved with 

Highlights 

 Redeveloped communication strategy and tools to enable improved communication and engagement with 
the public online, print, and in-person. 

 Led the creation and work of the Stave West Forest & Recreation Area action team, delivering on the Stave 
West Master Plan. 

 Gathered over 1,823 survey responses and hosted four major public engagement events. 
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Corporate Services 
Finance 

The Finance Department provides financial leadership and accountability to the District through financial 
management policies and practices that form a control framework for the District’s overall fiscal planning, 
investment and Purchasing and Stores operations. 

Support is provided to other departments as most issues and decisions within the District have financial implications.   
The Finance Department is intricately involved, on a daily basis, with assessing the financial impact of various 
alternate courses of action and with supporting the District’s general decision-making and service delivery 
processes. 

Responsibilities 

 Short and long-term operational and capital financial planning 
 Internal and external financial reporting 
 Property tax rate recommendations 
 Processing and collection of property taxes 
 Utility and other receivables billings 
 Maintenance of property records 
 Payroll and general accounting 
 Administration of the District’s investment portfolio 

 Payment of goods and services including processing of purchasing card (P-Card) transactions 
 

Highlights 

 Processed almost 19,200 property tax payments/home owner grant applications during the tax season (May/
June/July). 

 Awarded the GFOA Canadian Award for Financial Reporting for the eighth straight year. 
 Due to the Municipal elections in 2014, staff presented two (2015 and 2016) budgets/financial plans in 2015. 

 

 

purchasing  

Purchasing leads all competitive bidding processes, advises departments on procurement issues, and maintains 
the District’s inventory of supplies. 

 Responsibilities 

 Procurement of goods and services and asset disposal 
 Take lead role where products and services cross departmental boundaries 
 Operation of central inventory of supplies (Stores) 
 Administration of purchasing card (P-Card) program 
 Cooperative purchasing initiatives 
 Verifying and maintaining vendor records and documentation 
 

Highlights 
 Filled the Storekeeper/Buyer position which allows the department to provide more service to other District 

departments. 
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Economic Development 
The District of Mission Economic Development Office, 
relocated to Welton Common in the Downtown core.  With 
combined presence of the Technical Centre of Excellence and 
Community Futures North Fraser it has become a focal point for the local business community, entrepreneurs 
and investors.  

The office oversees and coordinates business retention and expansion, investment attraction, marketing and 
communications,  tourism services, film production, and workforce development in the District of Mission.  Staff 
are guided by the District of Mission Economic Development Select Committee, an advisory body to Council.  
The Committee consists of balanced community representation from the commercial, industrial, institutional and 
retail sectors, as well as the Mission Downtown Business Association, the Chamber of Commerce and 
Community Futures North Fraser. 

Responsibilities 

 Business Retention and Expansion (BRE) to encourage growth and stability within the retail, commercial 
and industrial sectors, diversifying the District’s tax base and creating new job opportunities 

 Act as a liaison between various municipal departments and the business and development community 

 To establish Mission as a preferred location for business investment 

 Create community hand-out information such as the Mission Community Profile, site selection information 
and incentive packages 

 Determine local and regional real-time labour demand, to ensure an understanding of current and future  
market needs 

 Educate the Lower Mainland real-estate and development companies on investment opportunities within 
Mission 

 Support tourism marketing, promotion, and attract tourism related infrastructure investment such as 
accommodation, destination and tourism sites, and food and beverage operators 

 Work with other municipal departments to promote and monitor filming in Mission 

 Coordinate regional tourism advertising, such as the Scenic 7 Tourism Alliance, which works cooperatively 
to promote attractions along the Lougheed Highway from Coquitlam to Hope 

  

Highlights 

 Ran a series of business tours with Mayor, Council and key business representatives to understand 
opportunities and challenges for local manufacturers and small business in Mission. 

 Commissioned 3D digital images of the waterfront and downtown, to demonstrate the development potential 
for these areas. 

 Relaunched Biz-e-news, a blog based publication which focuses on business, investment and development 
in Mission for readers in the Lower Mainland - Missionbizenews.ca. 

 Partnered with the Sumas Regional Consortium for High Tech (SRCTec) to develop and promote the Tech 
Starts Here campaign to attract technology based business, entrepreneurs and experts to Mission - 
techstartshere.ca. 

 Hosted an Urban Development Institute (UDI) breakfast where developers from across the Fraser Valley 
came to learn more about development and investment opportunities in Mission. 

 528 Active businesses in Mission for more than 10 years. 
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Parks, Recreation & Culture 
The Parks, Recreation & Culture Department’s goal is to provide safe, welcoming and affordable parks, programs, 
recreational and cultural opportunities in partnership with the community for the enjoyment of residents and 
visitors to Mission. 

The Department achieves this goal through the provision of parks, trails, open space areas as well as safe, clean 
and welcoming recreational facilities and programs. 

Responsibilities 

 Develop, inspect and maintain municipal parks, playgrounds, sports courts, trails and greenbelt areas 
throughout the community 

 Maintain and operate the Mission Rotary Sports Complex 

 Operate and manage the Mission Leisure Centre including the pool, arenas, gym, racquet courts, youth 
lounge, multi-purpose areas, skateboard park and water spray park 

 Provide a variety of drop-in and registered programs for children, teens and seniors 
 Operate the Mission Activity Centre in partnership with the Mission Seniors Association 
 Support and work in partnership with the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee, the Mission Cultural 

Commission, Communities in Bloom Society, the Mission Sports Council and numerous other societies, user 
groups and organizations throughout the community 

   

Highlights 

 Leisure Centre upgrades in 2015 included:   
 -  Replaced portions of the roof over the natatorium; and 
 -  Installed new weight room equipment. 

 The Parks, Recreation & Culture Department continue participation in the development of the Stave West 
Master Plan and the Senior’s Centre Task Force. 

 Planning for the Artificial Turf Field Project underway with Public Information Sessions held. 

 The Department initiated or participated in a number of well attended community special events including: 
Winter Wonderland and the Festival of Trees, Canada Day celebrations, Mission Possible, Youthfest, and the 
Community Health Fair. 

 Installed wellness equipment in Centennial Park. 

 Replaced bleachers at the Sports Park and the Leisure Centre. 

 Replaced the flooring in the community gym at Heritage Park Centre. 

 Extended the hours of operation at the 
Youth Lounge. 

 Repaired the dam structure at Mill 
Pond. 

 Held the first Parks, Recreation and 
Culture Open House. 

 Worked with the Mission Cultural 
Commission to implement the 
Neighbourhood Spirit program. 

 Began to work with the newly 
appointed Parks and Recreation 
Advisory Committee. 

Outdoor Fitness at the Centennial Park Wellness Park 
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Parks, Recreation & Culture 
social development  

Social Development in Mission encompasses a Manager, a volunteer based Advisory body to Council, volunteer 
working groups and related projects and events.  Originally called the Social Development Commission, this group 
amalgamated with the Healthy Community Council to form the Community Wellness Committee.  The Social 
Development program is concerned with quality of life for all Mission citizens and focuses on homelessness, 
outreach, food insecurity, child and family development and engagement with community organizations.  The 
Social Development Manager liaisons with all levels of government, the Health Authority, nonprofit organizations, 
faith communities, volunteers and citizens to enact positive growth, learning and change.  

Responsibilities 

  Support Mission citizens in their efforts to get involved in community projects related to social health 
 Partner with community agencies to explore community challenges and collaborate towards innovative 

community-based solutions 
 Work toward recognizing barriers in the community and increase communication where needed 
 Act as an educational and awareness resource on the importance of social health to community 

development and growth 
 Liaison between the community and the municipality in topics related to social development and community 

health 
 Coordinate community projects through facilitating multi-agency involvement including organizing Mission 

Connect Events for disengaged or vulnerable citizens 
 Provide mentorship and leadership opportunities to students and youth interested in gaining experience in 

municipal community development 
 

Highlights 

 Multiple grants were received to help seed many community projects. 
 Restructured the Mission Healthy Community Council and the Social Development Commission for 

enhanced action and effectiveness creating one amalgamated Community Wellness Committee. 
 Coordinated Connect Events (April & October 2015) drawing 300 people and 100 volunteers in total. 
 Coordinated Stone Soup Community Dinners. 
 Continued capacity building and leveraging interest and funding for the Stone Soup Homelessness initiative. 
 The Mission Youth House (MY House) opened its doors September 2015 with an incredible amount of 

community partnership and support. 
 Continued the position of Youth-Adult Partnership Facilitator to work with teenagers on priorities identified by 

them (by youth for youth). 

 

Youth Lounge at the Mission Leisure Centre 
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Development Services 
The Development Services Department represents the municipality on a wide range of initiatives relating to 
planning, land use and building development, as well as the administration and enforcement of various regulatory 
bylaws.  The Department also plays a role in local public transit service planning in corroboration with BC Transit 
and TransLink. 

Development Services  accepts development permit and development variance permit applications, including 
subdivision, rezoning and Official Community Plan Amendment, and temporary use permit applications as well as 
Agricultural Land Reserve applications.  All building, plumbing, and inspections are the responsibility of this 
Department including enforcement services related to regulatory issues.  Overall, the Development Services 
Department’s role is to ensure the orderly and safe growth within the District of Mission.  This is accomplished 
through the following key areas of responsibility: 

planning  

Good planning leads to orderly growth and the efficient provision of services.  As the Community grows and 
changes, the Planning Division supports and oversees various functions of community wide land-use planning and 
site specific development planning.  The Planning Division, consisting of long-range and current planning, provides 
Council with advice on planning related matters and helps in the development of policies pertaining to land use. 

Responsibilities 

 Review and process land development applications 

 Provide recommendations to Council on specific development proposals 

 Initiate short and long-range land use plans for key areas including the waterfront and downtown areas of the 
Community 

 Implement and update planning and development policies 

 Consider population growth trends and community needs as part of land use planning 

 Administer the Municipality’s Official Community Plan and Zoning bylaws 
 
 
 

building and business licensing  

The Building and Business Licensing Division is primarily responsible for ensuring that the British Columbia 
Building Code is adhered to along with other building regulations.  The division is involved in building permits, 
building inspections and business licensing. 

Qualified Building Inspectors administer the BC Building Code and ensure that all buildings in the Community are 
constructed to the standards of the National Building Code.  

Responsibilities 

 Issue building permits for commercial, industrial, institutional and residential buildings 

 Issue sign permits 

 Monitor compliance with building permits 

 Issue business licenses 
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Development Services 
bylaw enforcement  
The Bylaw Enforcement Division is responsible for administering and enforcing the various regulatory bylaws of the 
Municipality.   

Enforcement of bylaws within the Community is administered through a complaint generated system, with the 
exception of immediate fire and life safety situations.  The Division seeks to gain compliance with the District’s 
regulatory bylaw requirements through progressive enforcement beginning with education, where ongoing non-
compliance issues are managed under a more direct enforcement process.   

Responsibilities 

 Receive and handle bylaw complaints to gain compliance with municipal bylaws 

 Oversee the Mission animal control services contract 

 Regulate secondary residential suites for utility billing purposes 

 Enforce parking restrictions in the business core and throughout the District 
 

transit services 
Public transit helps promote the reduction of single occupancy vehicle trips and minimizes the need for 
expensive infrastructure while connecting our residential areas, parks, shopping and employment areas. 
The District of Mission is part of the Central Fraser Valley (CFV) Transit System. Conventional and custom 
transit services are provided by First Canada ULC under a joint agreement between the contractor, local 
government and BC Transit. 

Responsibilities 

 Work in partnership with BC Transit and City of Abbotsford to provide transit services in Abbotsford and 
Mission 

 Plan for transit enhancements and expansions in Mission 

 Work with TransLink to oversee West Coast Express Train and Train Bus services to and from Vancouver 

 Work with the Joint Shared Services Committee (JSSC) which acts on behalf of the District of Mission and the 
City of Abbotsford 

- recommendations are made to each Council regarding the CFV Transit System to accomplish transit 
orientated goals, including route changes, fares, improvements efficiencies, and long-term funding and 
governance 

 Work with the Mission Traffic and Transit Committee (MTTC), an advisory committee designed to respond to 
local traffic and transit issues within Mission  

- recommendations are made to Council on traffic safety and transit issues and needs as identified by 
MTTC members, staff, the general public and a sub-committee of the MTTC, which consists of Mission 
transit users 

Department Highlights  

 The then Director of Development Services, Michael Younie, received an Annual Volunteer Award from 
Mission’s Downtown Business Association for his outstanding community spirit and support for downtown. 

 Inter-municipal business licenses passed one-year trail period.  Additional municipalities have been added to 
the list of participants. 

 Worked towards incorporating building permit application process into the District’s software system. 
 Official Community Plan review underway under a provincial grant of $225,000.  

 Transit Efficiency study completed with operational changes scheduled for 2015.  
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Engineering and Public Works 
 Engineering and Public Works oversee the evaluation, planning and operations related to municipal roads, water, 
sewer, and drainage systems as well as managing the municipal equipment fleet, radio communications system, and 
the municipal gravel pit operations.  The department also administers the Waste Management Program which 
involves the provision of services for the collection and processing of solid wastes in the District. 

engineering 
The Engineering Division provides service to the community in the areas of:  infrastructure planning, design, and 
maintenance; Environmental Services; solid waste management; development application review; project 
management, construction and contract administration; soil removal, traffic engineering and Asset Management. 
Service is provided in a manner that conforms with the guidelines and policies established by Council and is 
consistent with the funding levels established in the District’s long-term financial plan. 

Responsibilities 
 Design infrastructure and manage studies and construction projects 
 Plan for municipal infrastructure 
 Maintain municipally owned buildings and grounds 
 Ensure compliance of Subdivision Control Bylaw through development review process 
 Plan traffic patterns and control 
 Oversee the digital computer based mapping and geographic information system (GIS) 

 
 

environmental services 
The mandate of Environmental Services is to provide leadership that fosters community wide stewardship of the 
natural environment.  Environmental Services administers the District’s waste management and diversion system, 
heads up the District’s invasive plant management program and provides support to community stewardship 
initiatives, as per the District’s Environmental Charter. 

Responsibilities 
 

Solid Waste Management  
 Oversee the curbside collection contract for garbage, recyclables and compost and promote waste diversion 
 Manage the Mission Landfill, including overseeing the compost facility and other division features, promoting 

environmental compliance and ensuring public safety 
 Coordinate special events, such as the Annual Household Hazardous Waste Day and Compost Giveaway 

Environmental Stewardship Outreach 
 Support community stewardship groups in their efforts 
 Collaborate with community litter abatement groups, such as Adopt-A-Block, as well as individuals 
 Coordinate an invasive plant management program 
 Promote wildlife conflict prevention, including bear awareness 
 Collaborate with senior levels of government on biodiversity protection and species-at-risk management 
 Promote greenhouse gas emission reduction and energy efficiency initiatives 
 Liaise with other government agencies on preserving stormwater quality and controlling sanitary discharges 
 Promote environmental awareness and waste diversion via brochures, the website and the curbside collection 

calendar 
 

Department Highlights 
 7 subdivision projects completed at servicing phase for 78 new residential lots and 1 28-unit multi-family strata. 
 84 final access inspections completed. 
 68 Traffic Management Plans and 6 Extraordinary Traffic Permits issued. 
 Council approved a bi-weekly garbage curbside collection to encourage better waste sorting for April of 2016. 
 143 knotweed sites throughout the District were inventoried and treated or re-treated, as applicable.  
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Engineering and Public Works 
asset management  
Asset Management is responsible for a District-wide condition assessment of surface and sub-surface assets to 
forecast and schedule appropriate rehabilitation and reconstruction activities. 

This section monitors current levels of service, life cycle trends and deterioration models to protect the District’s 
infrastructure investments by planning and developing a short and long-range capital budget. 

The asset management approach includes the analysis of current and projected asset conditions and incorporates 
the economic assessment of trade-offs among alternative investment options, using all of the information to help 
make cost-effective investment decisions. 

Responsibilities 
	 Pavement management 
 Condition assessments on: water distribution, wastewater collection, and storm sewer systems 
 Fleet management 
 Data collection and input from the field, which includes Facilities, Public Works, Parks and the Fleet 
 Provide cost-effective solutions for asset replacement costs, life cycle analysis and funding requirements 
 

public works 
The Public Works Division provides a level of service to the community that ensures a reliable and efficient 
network of safe roads and pedestrian ways, a network of effective drainage and diking systems, operations and 
maintenance of the water and sanitary sewer utilities, an effective emergency and operations radio 
communications system, a responsive emergency preparedness plan, 
environmentally responsible and efficient gravel pit operations, and a 
reliable and cost effective equipment fleet. 

Responsibilities 
 Oversee the road and drainage maintenance programs 
 Ensure reliable water distribution and sanitary sewer collection 
 Maintain environmental protection for all municipal infrastructure  

and construction, including: 
- Storm water conveyance and control 
- Street lighting, signs, and intersection signals 
- Pavement management and line markings 
- Road side mowing 
- Snow removal 

 

Department Highlights 

 Achieved a baseline measure for the current state of asset management within the District and developed an 
action plan to improve our asset management practices. 

 Implemented Asset Management Software to assist in achieving District asset management goals. 
 Received $10,000 in grant funding through the Asset Management Planning Program. 
 Operations Manager, Matt Dunham received an Annual Volunteer Award from Mission’s Downtown Business 

Association for his outstanding community spirit and support for downtown. 
 Asset Technician, Bob Blumenauer, was recognized by Council for his 40 years of service to the District. 
 91,500 square metres of asphalt rehabilitated. 
 32.2 kilometres of water main swabbed (cleaned). 
 35 kilometres of sewer mainline cctv inspected. 
 600 metres of sidewalk installed. 

Public Works crew working on sewer line replacement 
on Seventh Avenue 
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Mission Fire/Rescue Service 

The Mission Fire/Rescue Service (MFRS) uses the National Fire Protection Standard 1001 and the British 
Columbia Firefighter Certification Program as a basis for both officer and firefighter training.  On this foundation we 
have built a progressive, well-trained and effective fire service operation.  The department employs the Incident 
Command System for emergency incidents, resulting in safe and efficient emergency scene management. 
 Fire Station No.1 on Seventh Avenue is the headquarters, providing administrative and logistical support for all 
stations with a Fire Chief, two Assistant Fire Chiefs, a Captain Fire Prevention Officer, a Lieutenant Fire Inspector,  
a Coordinator, Emergency Support Services, two part-time Administrative Clerks, eight full-time career fire fighters, 
and 40 paid on-call fire fighters. Fire Stations No. 2 on Dewdney Trunk Road has 15 paid on-call firefighters and 
Fire Station No. 3 on Silverhill Avenue has 13 paid on-call firefighters. 

Responsibilities 
 

Fire Prevention and Education 
MFRS has a strong commitment to fire safety. From lectures on 
fire safety, to extinguisher training for industry, the department 
offers a variety of public education programs.  Utilizing an 
interactive “hazard house”, MFRS provides fire safety education to 
children at the fire station or directly in schools. Additionally, the 
department conducts regular fire safety inspections ensuring 
compliance with the Fire Services Act and the BC Fire Code.  
MFRS provides other community safety programs including, child 
car seat inspections, a neighbourhood smoke alarm campaign and 
hosting a Fire and Life Safety Fair during Fire Prevention Week.  

 

Emergency Operation Centre 
The District of Mission utilizes the British Columbia Emergency Response Management System (BCERMS) and 
Site Support Standard as its organizational structure.  An Incident Commander must always be present to 
oversee site activities, and the Emergency Operations Centre (if required) is activated to oversee and coordinate 
all off-site activities.  In the event that the emergency is very large or wide spread, a Provincial Regional 
Operations Centre (PREC) may be established to provide support and coordination. 

In larger complex incidents, responders at the site of the emergency may require policy direction, coordination, 
and resource support.  The District of Mission Emergency Programs primary Emergency Operations Centre 
(EOC) is located at 33330 Seventh Avenue, on the second floor of Fire Station No. 1, with a back-up EOC located 
at the Public Works yard. 

 

Operations and Training 
In 2015 MFRS received 1,903 requests for service ranging from 
complaints of smoke in an area to large scale brush fires forcing 
the evacuation of several homes.  MFRS is a full service department 
responding to a wide variety of emergency and non-emergency 
calls including hazardous material mitigation, fire suppression, 
automobile extrication and first responder calls. 

MFRS recruited and trained two recruit classes in 2015 with five 
recruits graduating and responding from Station No. 2 and fifteen 
recruits graduating and responding from Stations No. 1, 2 and 3. 

 

Emergency Social Services 
The Mission Emergency Social Services (ESS) and Victim Services (VS) team is about 80 members strong and 
is one of the largest, if not the largest group of organized ESS and VS volunteers in the entire Province of BC.  
Mission ESS director, Ms Albanese began training 28 new volunteer members for VS and ESS.  Graduation 
takes place in April of 2016. 

New Recruits 

“Sparky” at the Fire and Life Safety Fair 
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Mission Fire/Rescue Service 

Highlights 

  Assistant Chief MacLeod and firefighter Rangers received Certificates in Appreciation from 
Council for their humanitarian aid work in El Salvador with FRITA. 

 Fire Chief Watkinson and Assistant Chief MacLeod, along with their 
search dogs Sam and Scribbles, received Certificates in Appreciation 
from Council for their quick response and extraordinary efforts to 
provide assistance in Nepal following the earthquake in April of 2015. 

 A team of firefighters enjoyed a friendly floor hockey scrimmage with 
the 2015 Special Olympics Hockey Team. 

 Assistant Chief MacLeod and Firefighter Ziefflie joined Colin’s Ride for 
PTSD when it came through Mission. 

 Paul Nelin received the “Paid on-Call Firefighter of the Year Award” for 
2015. 

 Mission Fire Fighters’ Charitable Society hosted the inaugural Firefighters Fire Truck Pull.  Mission 
Firefighters raised $10,000 for Muscular Dystrophy Canada and received a Public Relations Award from MDC. 

 Station No. 3 Firefighters’ Haunted House raised over $3,000 for the Mission Christmas Bureau.   
 Firefighters collected over 2,600 pounds of food by going door-to-door for the Christmas Bureau .  
 Assistant Chief MacLeod participated in Cops for Cancer - Tour de 

Valley with designated rider and $6,000 dollars raised to support 
pediatric cancer research and Camp Good Times. 

 MFRS Participated in:  Canada Day activities; Mission Candlelight 
Parade; Mentor Ability Day at Fire Station No. 1; Zajac Ranch for Kids 
with Mission Hospice Society; Sports Day at Mission Medium Security 
raising $500 for the  Firefighter’s charity; Annual Soap Box Derby (first 
aid services); and Mission Fest activities. 

 MFRS Hosted:  Big Brothers/Big Sisters Hero Day at Fire Station No. 1 
for the fifth consecutive year; 2015 Youth Academy in partnership with 
JIBC and School District #75; and IAFF/Canadian Fire Chiefs Hazmat 
Course for approximately 25 participants, providing training at the 
Operational Level with accreditation through the Justice Institute of B.C. 

 Completed 830 fire inspections. 
 Investigated 16 fires with an approximate combined $3,521,100 in dollar loss. 
 Visited 476 homes in the smoke alarm campaign with 71 alarms installed and 21 batteries installed. 

Mission Statement 
To provide service to the community by protecting life, property and  environment, through prevention, public education and 

emergency response, with well maintained equipment and highly trained and dedicated personnel. 

Cops for Cancer - Tour de Valley 

Search ‘n Rescue Team in Nepal 

Mission Fire/Rescue Complement of paid-on-call firefighters including the Honour Guard 
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Mission Detachment provides police services to the citizens of Mission within the areas of General Duty, General 
Investigations, Street Crimes, Community Policing and Traffic Services.  The District of Mission’s contract with the 
RCMP includes supplemental support from integrated units such as Police Dog Services, Air Services, Forensic 
Identification, the Emergency Response Team and the Integrated Homicide Investigation Team. 

Twenty-four District of Mission municipal employees support police operations, under the direction of the 
Manager, RCMP Administration, in the areas of Crime Prevention, Property Control, Records Management, 
Cellblock Operations, Fleet Services, Court Liaison, Transcription, Front Counter Operations and Administrative 
Support. 

Mission Detachment has a complement of  91 volunteers within Victim Services, Crime Prevention and the 
Auxiliary Constable Programs.  These proud volunteers work thousands of hours within their Program areas, all in 
support of the residents of Mission. 

 Responsibilities 
	 Provide key services and programs in general duty policing 
 Community response 
 Street crime policing 
 General investigations and traffic enforcement 
 Crime prevention and crime analysis 
 Victim services and administrative support to police operations 
 

Highlights 

 Received a $30,000 grant to increase focus on domestic violence offenders and ensure full support for 
victims. 

 Fraser Health Assertive Community Treatment Team (ACT) began operations in Mission and is supported by 
one full time regular member. 

 Notable increase in calls for service in property crime prompted the establishment of a joint forces team with 
Abbotsford and Chilliwack. 

 Mission Detachment cell block underwent major renovations to comply with safety regulations. 

 Inspector De Jager hosted the first annual Community Policing Forum to address concerns from the public 
and to plan policing priorities for the coming year. 

 A 4-seater Utility Terrain Vehicle (UTV) was added to assist in rural 
patrols. 

 Emergency Services Director, Gina Albanese was presented with the 
Program Staff - Leadership Award for 2015 by the President of Police 
Based Victim Services of BC at the Police Victim Services 
Conference in May of 2015.  She then received a Certificate from 
Council in recognition of her efforts on behalf of Mission RCMP’s 
Victim Services and Mission’s Emergency Support Service.  

 Mission Detachment members and staff 
participated in the Christmas Parade and 
made a large contribution to the Food Bank. 

Mission Detachment 

RCMP in the Candlelight Christmas Parade 

Mission Detachment donation to the Food Bank 

Gina Albanese and the Emergency Support  
Service volunteers 
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Mission Forest Enterprise 
The Forest Enterprise has managed the Mission Tree Farm Licence #26 (TFL 26), also known as the Municipal 
Forest, since 1958.   
The Forest is managed on a sustained harvest basis, with an annual allowable cut of about 45,000 cubic metres 
per year, averaged over five years.  Management activities recognize many values in the forest including timber, 
wildlife, water, soils, fish, landscape aesthetics, recreation, education and biodiversity.  Forestry programs include 
harvesting, tree planting, plantation brushing, tree spacing, road construction, forest fire prevention and trail 
maintenance. 

Responsibilities 

 The Forest Enterprise’s main role is to perform all the associated functions of managing Mission TFL 26 
within the legislated requirements of the Forest and Range Practices Act of BC 

 Minor functions include providing advice or services to other departments regarding tree issues around the 
municipality 

 

Highlights 

 Presented the Stave West Master Plan to Council with participation from Kwantlen First Nation Council and 
Elders. 

 Secured $35,000 in grants towards road upgrades and trail repairs. 

Completion of Hayward Reservoir Trail repairs in conjunction with BC Hydro and Fraser Corrections.  

Hosted three separate filming commercials. 

District staff worked with Fraser Valley Regional District and Trans Canada Trail staff on the Experience the 
Fraser trail routing that was completed through the western portion of TFL26.  

Developed an Emergency Evacuation Plan for the Steelhead Community in cooperation with Mission Fire/
Rescue Service. 

 Participated in a “Partners in Service Program” for the “Picnic Table Project” for the Hatzic Middle School in 
collaboration with the School District, Correctional Services of Canada, Mission Institute Citizens Advisory 
Committee, Rotary Club of Mission and the Wilderness Tree Farm, a local business. 

 Participated in the Communities in Bloom presentations. 

Mission Statement 
Mission’s Municipal Forest is a community forest operating under the highest possible standards. The 
Mission Municipal Forest exists for the people of Mission, by creating a sustainable balance of various 

economic, social, scientific and environmental forest values as well as providing memorable forest 
experiences to Mission residents and its visitors. 

Sayers Lake 
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The MV Shirley at the Stave Falls  Visitor Centre                                                           Photo credit:  Christina Dutkowski 
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Report from the Director of Finance 
June 6, 2016 

 
I am pleased to present the District of Mission’s audited 2015 financial statements. The financial statements are the 
responsibility of management, and have been prepared by District staff pursuant to Section 167 of the Community 
Charter. Management’s responsibilities also include maintaining a system of internal controls for financial statement 
reliability purposes, and to ensure the safeguarding of the District’s assets. The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.  

 
The District’s independent external auditors, BDO Canada LLP, have audited the District’s financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. As expressed in their audit report, in their opinion 
the District’s financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the financial position of the District of Mission 
as at December 31, 2015, and the results of operations, changes in net financial assets, and cash flows for the year 
then ended, in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

 
The financial statements include: 

 Statement of Financial Position (a summary of year end balances of financial assets, liabilities, and non-financial 
assets); 

 Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus (a summary of the annual surplus for the year, which consists 
of revenues raised during the year, expenses incurred for operations, and the estimated usage of tangible capital 
assets); 

 Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets (a reconciliation of the annual surplus for the year to the change in 
value of net financial assets); and 

 Statement of Cash Flows (a summary of how the District’s cash and cash equivalents changed during the year, 
sorted into operating, investing, financing, and capital transactions). 

 
Additionally, the notes and schedules to the financial statements provide a variety of explanations and details to assist 
the reader’s understanding. 

 
In 2015, the District began implementation of a comprehensive, organization-wide asset management system. 
Through the course of the implementation, certain information in the District’s geographic information system was 
found to be more accurate than the information contained in the capital asset accounting records. This resulted in a 
net increase to tangible capital asset values of $7.7 million, and the comparative 2014 figures in the financial 
statements have been restated accordingly. 

 
The District adopted the new accounting standard PS3260 Liability for Contaminated Sites in 2015. PS3260 requires 
governments to accrue a liability for the costs to remediate a contaminated site when an environmental standard 
exists, contamination exceeds the standard, the government has responsibility for future remediation, and a 
reasonable estimate of the future economic benefits that will be given up can be made. The District does not have any 
liabilities related to contaminated sites, however a contingent liability has been disclosed in the notes related to a site 
that was transferred from the Province of British Columbia to the District in 2010. 

 

Financial Highlights 

At the end of 2015, the District had net financial assets of $51.4 million, based on the difference between its financial 
assets ($82.6 million) and its liabilities ($31.2 million). This compares to net financial assets of $43.3 million at the end of 
2014. The majority of the increase was related to additional short-term investments, as the District continues to build 
up reserve fund balances to pay for the maintenance and replacement of civic infrastructure.  
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The District had non-financial assets of $439.7 million, which for the most part consisted of the amortized historical cost 
of tangible capital assets. The District’s net financial assets and non-financial assets together account for the $491.1 
million accumulated surplus as at December 31, 2015. Details of the composition of accumulated surplus, with 
comparable figures for the prior year, are as follows: 

 

The majority of the increase in accumulated surplus was related to reserve funds, particularly the water utility and 
sewer utility capital reserve funds, as the District continues to build reserve balances to support the maintenance and 
replacement of a significant amount of physical infrastructure. The total increase in accumulated surplus of $8.7 million 
equals the annual surplus. 

 
The District had revenues of $68.6 million for the year, down significantly from $73.4 million in the prior year. The 
decrease was largely related to government transfers revenue, as the result of a large one-time adjustment in 2014 due 
to a change in accounting treatment for the gas tax revenue. Expenses totaled $59.9 million in 2015, which resulted in 
the annual surplus of $8.7 million. Expenses increased by almost $5 million over the prior year, with some of the main 
factors being increases in police resources, building repairs and improvements at the police facility, and disposal costs 
related to engineering and public works assets, partially offset by favourable adjustments to insurance and legal cost 
estimates. Details of 2015 revenues and expenses are shown in the following charts: 

 

  

2015 Accumulated 
Surplus

2014 Accumulated 
Surplus

Increase

Unrestricted surplus  $              9,037,719  $              7,557,504  $              1,480,215 

Reserve funds                49,662,915                43,388,315                   6,274,600 

Investment in tangible capital assets              432,351,937 

2015 Accumulated 
Surplus

2014 Accumulated 
Surplus

Increase

Unrestricted surplus  $              9,037,719  $              7,557,504  $              1,480,215 

Reserve funds                49,662,915                43,388,315                   6,274,600 

Investment in tangible capital assets              432,351,937              431,440,614                      911,323 

Total accumulated surplus  $         491,052,571  $         482,386,433  $              8,666,138 
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Long-Term Debt 

The District had $6.2 million of long-term debt outstanding at the end of 2015, (compared to $6.8 million at the end of 
2014). The outstanding long-term debt is related to borrowing for the construction of Fire Station No. 1, and the 
Leisure Centre facilities. The District’s water, sewer and waste management utilities do not have any long-term debt 
outstanding. The District has been making steady progress at paying down external debt in recent years, by using 
monies accumulated in reserve funds to take advantage of a number of early debt retirement opportunities. As a 
result, the District has significant borrowing capacity available, and minimal debt servicing costs. 

 

Internal Debt 

At the end of 2015, the District had approximately $3.5 million of outstanding internal debt (compared to $4.5 million at 
the end of 2014). Internal debt occurs when one District reserve fund borrows from another of the District’s reserve 
funds. All of the District’s outstanding internal debt was incurred to fund growth-related projects, which are ultimately 
to be funded from future development cost charge (DCC) collections. In other words, general reserves have prepaid 
certain projects that were needed to support growth, as insufficient DCCs were collected prior to having to construct 
the projects. As DCCs are collected from future developments, the internal loans are repaid. The District’s internal 
borrowing capacity is dependent upon its reserve balances, and future projects planned to be funded by those 
reserves. From the District’s perspective, internal borrowing offers certain advantages over long-term debt, because 
there is greater flexibility in the length of the payback period and timing of repayment, and the interest cost is kept 
within the organization.    

 

Financial Indicators 

The District tracks certain financial indicators in the form of ratios, which provide some insight into financial 
sustainability, flexibility and vulnerability. Over time, these indicators are helpful as they can illustrate certain trends that 
are occurring.  

 FINANCIAL INDICATORS 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

          

Sustainability indicators:          

Total assets to total liabili es 11.16 11.43 11.56 17.39 16.72 

Financial assets to total liabili es 1.33 1.49 1.68 2.47 2.65 

           

Flexibility indicators:           

Total debt servicing costs to total revenues 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.11 0.02 

           

Vulnerability indicators:           

Total government transfers to total revenues 0.08 0.03 0.06 0.13 0.04 
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 Sustainability indicators provide a general indication of the District’s financial position. The District is experiencing 
a positive trend in terms of financial sustainability, and the indicators show there are sufficient assets available to 
discharge liabilities. 

 Flexibility indicators provide a general indication of the District’s reliance on long-term debt financing. Flexibility has 
remained fairly stable in recent years, and the indicator shows that a relatively small portion of total revenues are 
typically committed to debt servicing costs. The increases in 2013 and 2014 are both the result of one-time 
payments for early debt retirement, therefore are considered abnormal and not reoccurring; in fact, those early 
debt retirements had a significant impact on reducing debt servicing costs in 2015. 

 Vulnerability indicators provide a general indication of the District’s reliance on transfers from senior levels of 
government. While the District appears more reliant on government transfers in 2014 than in other years, this is 
due primarily to a change in accounting treatment for the gas tax funds on hand. 

 

Looking Forward  

The District is committed to improving its financial position even further in the future by: 

 Diversifying the property tax base and increasing other sources of revenue, in order to reduce reliance on 
residential property taxes; 

 Continuing to build reserve balances, and thus internal financing capacity, by incrementally increasing annual 
transfers to reserves; 

 Gaining a better understanding of the life-cycle costs of infrastructure through the development of a 
comprehensive, organization-wide asset management program; 

 Minimizing the use of external debt; and, 

 Maximizing the repayment of internal debt, where possible. 

 
The District has realized steady, but not remarkable growth in the past decade through property development activities. 
Given significant increases in property values in nearby Metro Vancouver over the past year, development interest in 
the District is rapidly increasing due to relatively lower property values, and the availability of un-developed land. Growth 
of this nature can create substantial challenges in terms of funding for maintenance, replacement and increased 
capacity of District infrastructure assets, and staffing to meet the increased demand on public services. The District 
continues to work towards addressing these challenges through the development of the organization-wide asset 
management program, comprehensive engineering and parks master plans, updating of the Official Community Plan, 
and ongoing assessment of capacity and demand on staff.  

 
How we deal with continuing challenges around building and paying for growth related infrastructure (including 
regional water and sewer projects), how successful we are at expanding our revenue sources in order to become less 
reliant on property taxes, and how successful we are at diversifying our tax base with greater business and industrial 
components, will in part determine how we progress towards greater financial sustainability. The District continues to 
be accountable for its spending, and aims to preserve community infrastructure, while balancing the economic 
conditions of the community.  

 
In conclusion, the District of Mission maintains a strong financial position, and is well positioned to deliver the municipal 
services residents and businesses have come to expect. I look forward to working with Council to implement their 
vision in the coming years, and I thank all District staff for their efforts in achieving our positive financial results. The 
professionalism and commitment to excellence shown by staff each day is the foundation for our success. 

 

 

Kris Boland, CPA, CGA 
Director of Finance 



2015 Annual Report 33  

Financial Information 



District of Mission
Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2015

2015 2014

(Restated - Note 2)

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) $ 33,663,957 $ 31,661,753

Receivables (Note 5) 6,765,820 6,534,469

Inventories held for resale 246,083 271,764

Investments (Note 6) 41,934,271 34,304,426

82,610,131 72,772,412

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 8) 10,628,722 10,005,353

Deposits 2,969,019 2,266,282

Long-term debt (Note 9, Schedule 3) 6,222,977 6,768,137

Deferred revenue 3,881,403 3,974,715

Restricted revenue (Note 10) 6,188,931 5,044,746

Employee future benefits (Note 11) 1,341,345 1,370,820

31,232,397 29,430,053

Net Financial Assets 51,377,734 43,342,359

Non-Financial Assets

Tangible capital assets (Schedule 1) 438,574,914 438,208,751

Inventories of supplies and land 860,905 669,533

Prepaid expenses 239,018 165,790

439,674,837 439,044,074

Accumulated Surplus  (Note 13) $ 491,052,571 $ 482,386,433

Kris Boland CPA, CGA Randy Hawes
Director of Finance Mayor

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

For the year ended December 31, 2015

Budget 2015 2014

(Restated - Note 2)

Revenues

Taxation (Note 14) $ 29,198,570 $ 29,063,443 $ 28,069,283

Sales of services and regulatory fees 26,496,636 27,768,999 26,413,396

Government transfers (Note 15) 1,330,440 3,028,736 9,339,813

Amortization of restricted revenue (Note 10) 1,676,275 1,136,039 1,009,311

Investment income 1,022,231 1,342,877 1,320,106

Other revenue 1,523,970 1,959,266 2,068,560

Developer contributions in-kind related to capital 3,434,040 4,300,708 3,719,586

Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets - - 1,527,274

Total Revenues 64,682,162 68,600,068 73,467,329

Expenses

Administration and finance 4,328,525 4,734,178 4,271,812

General government and fiscal services 915,558 383,488 1,272,931

Protective services 16,512,106 14,896,336 13,129,857

Engineering and public works 8,467,667 9,608,819 7,591,781

Transit services 2,882,731 2,804,284 2,746,178

Waste management 4,377,639 3,972,069 4,214,266

Development services 2,284,589 1,944,308 2,011,276

Parks, recreation and cultural services 6,992,206 7,369,357 6,674,385

Library 1,378,685 1,379,432 1,368,089

Cemetery 232,602 255,857 256,658

Water utility 4,132,390 4,037,771 3,857,166

Sewer utility 3,846,426 4,120,177 3,565,198

Forestry enterprise 4,344,645 4,427,854 4,142,343

Total Expenses 60,695,769 59,933,930 55,101,940

Annual Surplus 3,986,393 8,666,138 18,365,389

Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year 482,386,433 482,386,433 464,021,044

Accumulated Surplus, End of Year $ 486,372,826 $ 491,052,571 $ 482,386,433

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

For the year ended December 31, 2015

Budget 2015 2014

(Restated - Note 2)

Annual Surplus $ 3,986,393 $ 8,666,138 $ 18,365,389

Acquisition of tangible capital assets, including developer
contributions in-kind (15,794,953) (9,992,259) (13,030,685)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 8,126,750 8,234,241 8,106,784

Loss/(gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets - 921,087 (1,527,274)

Net sale proceeds from tangible capital assets 5,955 470,766 2,019,550

(3,675,855) 8,299,973 13,933,764

Change in inventories of supplies and land - (191,372) (39,479)

Change in prepaid expenses - (73,226) (16,920)

- (264,598) (56,399)

Increase/(Decrease) in Net Financial Assets (3,675,855) 8,035,375 13,877,365

Net Financial Assets, Beginning of Year 43,342,359 43,342,359 29,464,994

Net Financial Assets, End of Year $ 39,666,504 $ 51,377,734 $ 43,342,359

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2015

2015 2014

(Restated - Note 2)

Cash Flows from Operating Transactions

Annual surplus $ 8,666,138 $ 18,365,389

Items Not Involving Cash

Amortization of tangible capital assets 8,234,241 8,106,784

Amortization of restricted revenue (1,136,039) (1,009,311)

Loss/(gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 921,087 (1,527,274)

Developer contributions in-kind related to capital (4,300,708) (3,719,586)

Change in employee future benefits (29,475) 83,868

Change in Non-Cash Operating Items

Receivables (231,351) 1,420,927

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 623,369 (1,533,576)

Deposits 702,737 378,137

Deferred revenue (93,312) (99,234)

Inventories held for resale 25,681 (37,010)

Inventories of supplies and land (191,372) (39,479)

Prepaid expenses (73,226) (16,920)

Net Change in Cash from Operating Transactions 13,117,770 20,372,715

Cash Flows from Investing Transactions

Net change in investments (7,629,845) (4,514,551)

Cash Flows from Financing Transactions

Long-term debt principal repaid (545,160) (7,004,085)

Restricted revenue collections and interest earnings 2,280,224 (4,602,004)

Net Change in Cash from Financing Transactions 1,735,064 (11,606,089)

Cash Flows from Capital Transactions

Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets 470,766 2,019,550

Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (5,691,551) (9,311,099)

Net Change in Cash from Capital Transactions (5,220,785) (7,291,549)

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,002,204 (3,039,474)

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 31,661,753 34,701,227

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 33,663,957 $ 31,661,753

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

The District of Mission (the "District") is a municipality in the Province of British Columbia, and operates under
provisions of the Local Government Act and the Community Charter. The principal activities of the District include
the provision of local government services to residents and businesses. 

The Community Charter requires local governments to annually adopt a five year financial plan, wherein the total
proposed expenditures and transfers to other funds for a year must not exceed the total of the proposed funding
sources and transfers from other funds for the year. Budget information presented in the financial statements
reflects the budget for the year 2015 of the District of Mission’s 2015-2019 five year financial plan, adopted by
Council Bylaw #5495-2015.

1. Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the District are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board ("PSAB").

(a) Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of accounting
records revenue as it is earned and becomes measurable. Expenses are recognized as they are incurred and
become measurable based upon receipt of goods or services and/or the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of certain receivables and accrued liabilities as at the date of the financial statements,
and that affect the reported amount of related revenues and expenses during the reporting period. As such,
actual results could differ from the estimates. Areas requiring the greatest degree of estimation include
employee future benefits, assessment of contingent liabilities, liabilities for contaminated sites, landfill closure
and post-closure liabilities, allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, and the estimated useful lives of
tangible capital assets. 

(c) Inventories Held for Resale

Inventories held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.    

(d) Investments

Investments are recorded at cost. Investments are written down to net realizable value when there has been, in
the opinion of management, a decline in market value that is not temporary. Investments in the MFA Money
Market Fund and Short-Term Bond Fund are recorded at market value, which approximates cost. 

(e) Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities, and are generally held for use in the
provision of services. They typically have useful lives extending beyond the current year (with the exception of
prepaid expenses), and are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(f) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets, which are a type of non-financial asset, are recorded at cost, which includes all
amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment. The costs of
tangible capital assets, less residual value, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

Asset Category Useful Life Range

Buildings and improvements 5 to 50 years

Drainage infrastructure 20 to 100 years

Information technology infrastructure 3 to 80 years

Land not amortized

Land improvements 35 to 50 years

Landfill infrastructure 10 to 50 years

Parks infrastructure 10 to 40 years

Recycling depot (regional) 7 to 20 years

Sewage conveyance infrastructure (local) 25 to 100 years

Sewage treatment plant (regional)  2 to 100 years

Transportation infrastructure 10 to 80 years

Vehicles and equipment 5 to 20 years

Water distribution infrastructure (local) 10 to 100 years

Water supply infrastructure (regional)  4 to 75 years

In the year of acquisition or disposal, amortization is prorated based on the number of days that the tangible
capital asset is in service or use in the year. Assets under construction are not amortized until they are put into
service. Tangible capital assets received from developers through property development activities are recorded
at their fair value at the date of receipt and are recorded as revenue.

(g) Inventories of Supplies and Land

Inventories of supplies and land are valued at cost.

(h) Deferred Revenue

Certain contributions, and other amounts are received from third parties pursuant to legislation, regulation or
agreement. These amounts may only be used to conduct certain programs, complete specific work, or to
purchase tangible capital assets, as specified by the transferring party. In addition, certain user fees and
charges are collected, for which the related services have yet to be performed. These revenues are recognized
in the period when the related expenses are incurred, services performed, or the tangible capital assets are
acquired. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(i) Restricted Revenue

Revenues or receipts, which are restricted by legislation or that contain stipulations that create a liability, are
deferred and reported as restricted revenues. When qualifying expenses are incurred and/or stipulations are
met, restricted revenues are recognized as revenues in the period which this occurs.

(j) Employee Future Benefits

The District and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan (the "Plan"), and the
employees accrue benefits under this Plan based on service.  The District’s contributions to the Plan are
expensed when incurred.

In addition to the Plan, sick leave and other retirement benefits accrue to the District’s employees. The costs of
these benefits are actuarially determined based on years of service, estimated retirement age, and expected
future salary and wage levels. The obligations under these benefit plans are accrued based on the projected
benefits earned as the employees render the services necessary to earn the future benefits.  

(k) Revenue Recognition - Taxation

Taxes are recorded at estimated amounts when they meet the definition of an asset, have been authorized,
and the taxable event occurs. Annual levies for non-optional municipal services and general administrative
services are recorded as taxes for municipal services in the year they are levied. Taxes receivable are
recognized net of an allowance for anticipated uncollectible amounts. Levies imposed by other taxing
authorities are not included as taxes for municipal purposes. 

Through BC Assessment's appeal process, taxes may be adjusted by way of supplementary roll adjustments.
The effects of these adjustments on taxes may have been included in initial estimates when recording revenue;
to the extent that adjustments exceed the initial estimates, they are recognized at the time they are awarded. 

(l) Government Transfers

Government transfers, which include legislative grants, are recognized as revenue in the financial statements
when the transfer is authorized and any eligibility criteria are met, except to the extent that transfer stipulations
give rise to an obligation that meets the definition of a liability. Transfers are recognized as deferred revenue
when transfer stipulations give rise to a liability. Transfer revenue is recognized in the statement of operations
as the stipulation liabilities are settled. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

2. Prior period adjustments

During 2015, the District began implementation of a comprehensive, organization-wide asset management system.
Through the course of the implementation, certain information in the District's geographic information system was
found to be more accurate than the information contained in the capital asset accounting records. This resulted in a
net increase to the cost of tangible capital assets, accumulated amortization, and amortization expense on the
financial statements. 

The prior year comparative figures in these financial statements have been restated to reflect these adjustments.
The effects of these changes are as follows:

2014 Statement of Financial Position:

2014

Tangible Capital Assets (previously reported) $430,536,661

Add: increase in cost 7,893,626

Less: increase in accumulated amortization (221,536)

Tangible Capital Assets (restated) $438,208,751

Accumulated Surplus (previously reported) $474,714,343

Add: net tangible capital asset adjustments 7,672,090

Accumulated Surplus (restated) $482,386,433
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District of Mission
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

2. Prior period adjustments (continued)

2014 Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus:

2014

Annual Surplus (previously reported) $ 18,425,886

Less: amortization expense adjustment (60,497)

Annual surplus (restated) $ 18,365,389

Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year (previously reported) $456,288,457

Add: net tangible capital asset adjustments 7,672,090

Add: amortization expense adjustment 60,497

Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year (restated) $464,021,044

3. Change in Accounting Policy

Effective January 1, 2015, the District adopted the new accounting standard PS 3260 Liability for Contaminated
Sites. The new standard can be applied retroactively or prospectively, and the District has elected to apply it
prospectively. 

Under PS 3260 governments are required to accrue a liability for the costs to remediate a contaminated site.
Liabilities are recognized when an environmental standard exists, contamination exceeds the standard, the
government has responsibility for remediation, future economic benefits will be given up and a reasonable estimate
can be made. Solid waste landfill closure and post-closure liabilities related to the District's landfill site are not
subject to PS 3260, and are disclosed separately in Note 8.

Management has assessed its potential liabilities under the new standard including sites that are no longer in
productive use and sites for which the District accepts responsibility. There were no such sites that had
contamination in excess of an environmental standard which required remediation at this time, therefore no liability
was recognized on transition as at January 1, 2015 or at December 31, 2015. However, a contingent liability related
to one site is disclosed in Note 12.

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2015 2014

Cash $ 7,663,952 $ 4,525,248

Cashable term deposits 26,000,005 27,136,505

$33,663,957 $31,661,753

Cashable term deposits are comprised of BC Credit Union term deposits, which are cashable either immediately or
within 30 days of issue, with interest rates ranging from 1.45% to 1.70%. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

5. Receivables

2015 2014

Accounts receivable $ 2,290,448 $ 2,141,585

Development cost charges receivable 133,653 -

Interest receivable 995,516 517,728

Taxes receivable (including residential utilities) 3,346,203 3,875,156

$ 6,765,820 $ 6,534,469

6. Investments

2015 2014

Fixed term deposits $ 37,827,508 $ 34,193,944

MFA Money Market Fund 226 -

MFA Short-Term Bond Fund 4,003,098 -

Mortgage receivable from Mission Regional Chamber of Commerce (secured by
promissory note and general security agreement against debtor's property);
interest rate: 5.5%; maturity: July 1, 2026 103,439 110,482

Total $ 41,934,271 $ 34,304,426

Fixed term deposits are comprised of Canadian bank GICs and BC Credit Union term deposits, which mature in
years 2016 through 2019, with interest rates ranging from 1.75% to 2.80%. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

7. Municipal Finance Authority Debt Reserve Cash Deposits and Demand Notes

The District issues debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority ("MFA") of British Columbia.  As a
condition of these borrowings, a portion of the debt proceeds are withheld by the MFA in a debt reserve fund as
cash deposits. These debt reserve funds may be used by the MFA if they do not have sufficient funds to meet the
debt payment obligations of the participating municipalities. The District also executes demand notes in connection
with each debt issue whereby the District may be required to loan certain amounts to the MFA. These demand
notes are contingent in nature. The balances of the cash deposits and demand notes, which are not reported
elsewhere in these financial statements, are as follows:

2015 2014

Cash Deposits

General fund $ 165,951 $ 161,808

Sewer utility 3,339 3,255

Water utility 13,044 12,718

$ 182,334 $ 177,781

Demand Notes

General fund $ 320,759 $ 320,759

Sewer utility 6,408 6,408

Water utility 25,037 25,037

$ 352,204 $ 352,204
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District of Mission
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

8. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

2015 2014

Accounts payable $ 7,376,262 $ 6,951,503

Landfill closure and post-closure care costs 1,893,133 1,945,588

Wages and benefits payable 1,359,327 1,108,262

$10,628,722 $10,005,353

The District’s landfill site is regulated by the British Columbia Ministry of Environment, and as such the District is
subject to certain design, operating, closure and post-closure obligations at the site.  

The costs associated with landfill closure and post-closure care are recognized over the operating life of the landfill
site in accordance with accounting standard PS 3270. The District has estimated and recognized a liability of
$1,893,133 as at December 31, 2015 ($1,945,588 in 2014), for future estimated closure and post-closure costs at
the landfill site. The estimated total expenses for closure and post-closure care are approximately $15.6 million, with
approximately $13.7 million remaining to be recognized. There are currently no assets designated for settling the
landfill closure and post-closure care liability. 

The landfill closure and post-closure care liability is based on the discounted costs associated with the phased
closure of various landfill cells and environmental monitoring for 30 years after the landfill is closed.  Approximately
75% of the landfill's capacity remains, and the landfill is predicted to reach capacity around 2068. The discount rate
used to estimate the liability as at December 31, 2015 is 3.42% (3.33% in 2014).

9. Long-Term Debt

The District does not carry any debt for other entities. All existing long-term debt is repayable in Canadian dollars.
Refer to Schedule 3 for additional details on outstanding long-term debt, including interest rates, maturity dates, and
payments due within each of the next five years. Details of the District's interest expenses are as follows:

2015 2014

Long-term debt interest - forestry enterprise $ - $ 2,930

Long-term debt interest - general operations 467,851 661,364

Long-term debt interest - sewer utility - 65,446

Long-term debt interest - water utility - 26,020

Total long-term debt interest 467,851 755,760

Interest on prepayments 29,295 33,537

Total interest expense $ 497,146 $ 789,297

Financial Information

2015 Annual Report      45 



District of Mission
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

10. Restricted Revenue

Cedar Valley
Environmental
Management

Plan

Development
Cost

Charges
Park Land
Acquisition 2015 2014

Opening balance $ 45,584 $ 2,085,393 $ 2,913,769 $ 5,044,746 $10,656,061

Interest income 916 50,390 60,469 111,775 98,453

Fees collected - 1,979,173 189,276 2,168,449 1,910,875

Transfer balance to accumulated surplus - - - - (6,611,332)

Subtotal - collections 916 2,029,563 249,745 2,280,224 (4,602,004)

Internal loan payments made - (1,005,229) - (1,005,229) (755,836)

Internal loan payments received - - - - 17,062

Expenses - (130,810) - (130,810) (270,537)

Subtotal - amortization of restricted revenue - (1,136,039) - (1,136,039) (1,009,311)

Ending balance $ 46,500 $ 2,978,917 $ 3,163,514 $ 6,188,931 $ 5,044,746

During 2014, the District entered into a renewed Community Works Fund Agreement, which differed in several
ways from the previous agreement. The renewed agreement has significantly relaxed the stipulations around the
use of Community Works Funds, and also provides that any unspent amounts from the previous agreement will be
brought forward to the renewed agreement. The result of these differences, in accordance with accounting
standards and the District's accounting policy regarding government transfers, is that revenues under the
Community Works Fund Agreement are recognized when they are received. 

Furthermore, unspent amounts from the previous agreement no longer meet the definition of a liability. These
amounts were previously recorded as restricted revenue, and are now included in accumulated surplus (see Note
13). The impact of this new agreement is a significant increase to revenue in 2014 to recognize the amounts that
were previously deferred. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

11. Employee Future Benefit Obligations

The District provides sick leave and retirement benefits to its employees. The accrued obligations related to these
benefits are as follows:

2015 2014

Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 1,370,820 $ 1,286,952

Current service cost 155,000 109,887

Interest cost 42,800 61,655

Benefit payments (229,820) (92,152)

Amortization of actuarial (gain)/loss 2,545 4,478

Accrued benefit liability, end of year 1,341,345 1,370,820

Unamortized actuarial (gain)/loss 364,855 32,349

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year $ 1,706,200 $ 1,403,169

The District estimated the accrued benefit obligations by actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2015. The next
actuarial valuation is planned to occur for the year ending December 31, 2018, with results available in 2019.

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the District’s accrued benefit obligations are as follows:

2015 2014

Discount rate   3.65 %   4.50 %

Projected future wage and salary increase   3.00 %   3.00 %

Municipal Pension Plan

The District and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan).  The board
of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan, including
investment of assets and administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan.
Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2014, the plan has about 185,000 active
members and approximately 80,000 retired members. Active members include approximately 37,000 contributors
from local governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of
plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the
plan. The actuary's calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the
long-term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the
plan. This rate is then adjusted to the extent there is amortization of any funding deficit. 

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2012 indicated a $1,370 million
funding deficit for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. The next valuation will be as at December 31,
2015, with results available later in 2016.
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District of Mission
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

11. Employee Future Benefit Obligations (continued)

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made
during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan records accrued
liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the
obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in the plan. 

The District paid $1,331,474 ($1,211,149 in 2014) for employer contributions while employees contributed
$1,170,899 ($1,087,505 in 2014) to the plan in fiscal 2015.

12. Contingent Liabilities

The District has been named as a defendant in various legal actions.  No reserve or liability has been recorded
regarding any of these legal actions or possible claims if the amount of loss, if any, is indeterminable.  Settlement, if
any, made with respect to these actions would be accounted for as a charge to expenses in the period in which any
outcomes are known.

In 2010, the District received lands at no cost from the Province of British Columbia that were previously dedicated
as provincial highway lands held for future use. The District believes there is a possibility of contamination existing
on these lands from various previous industrial uses, although the scope and cost of remediation is not known at
this time, and there is no known event at this time that would require remediation to be initiated. The District has not
accepted responsibility for any remediation that may be required in the future. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

13. Accumulated Surplus

2015 2014
Increase /
(decrease)

(Restated - Note 2)

General operating surplus $ 6,159,476 $ 4,810,430 $ 1,349,046

Sewer operating surplus 802,744 786,927 15,817

Water operating surplus 955,016 936,199 18,817

Development Corporation surplus 808,869 808,869 -

Appropriated surplus:

Carbon tax 177,169 151,092 26,077

General operating carry forwards 19,751 10,063 9,688

Government transfers 17,952 - 17,952

Recycling operations 49,142 53,924 (4,782)

Transit operations 47,600 - 47,600

Total Unrestricted Surplus 9,037,719 7,557,504 1,480,215

Reserve Funds:

Cemetery 111,073 94,032 17,041

Community amenity 1,398,459 1,429,670 (31,211)

Community works gas tax 6,443,225 6,520,393 (77,168)

Debt retirement 10,548 10,341 207

Financial stabilization 889,545 639,074 250,471

Forestry 1,683,627 1,418,430 265,197

Gaming 696,306 517,823 178,483

General capital 2,217,658 2,180,246 37,412

Information systems 311,030 301,113 9,917

Insurance 652,652 465,262 187,390

Land sale 426,427 602 425,825

Legal 273,598 239,511 34,087

Major capital 1,635,966 1,713,272 (77,306)

Policing 14,469 288,176 (273,707)

Refuse 1,961,782 1,401,170 560,612

Roads capital 655,210 814,182 (158,972)

Sewer capital 13,554,740 11,703,121 1,851,619

Vehicles and equipment 3,789,738 3,311,055 478,683

Water capital 12,936,862 10,340,842 2,596,020

Total Reserve Funds 49,662,915 43,388,315 6,274,600

Investment in Tangible Capital Assets 432,351,937 431,440,614 911,323

Total Accumulated Surplus $ 491,052,571 $ 482,386,433 $ 8,666,138
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14. Taxation

Budget 2015 2014

Municipal Taxation:

General municipal property taxes $ 29,031,082 $ 28,895,417 $ 27,886,914

Special assessments and area charges 167,488 168,026 182,369

Total municipal taxation 29,198,570 29,063,443 28,069,283

Collections for Other Taxing Authorities:

Province of BC - school taxes 14,873,900 15,052,800 14,946,605

Fraser Valley Regional District 643,197 650,845 639,046

Fraser Valley Regional Hospital District 1,377,768 1,346,345 1,344,039

BC Assessment 377,873 374,306 376,300

Municipal Finance Authority of BC 1,181 1,211 1,170

Downtown Business Association 77,852 81,793 79,798

Total collections for other taxing authorities 17,351,771 17,507,300 17,386,958

Payments to other taxing authorities (17,351,771) (17,507,300) (17,386,958)

Net taxation for municipal purposes $ 29,198,570 $ 29,063,443 $ 28,069,283

15. Government Transfers

Budget 2015 2014

Provincial $ 1,330,440 $ 1,465,444 $ 1,189,520

Federal - 1,563,292 8,150,293

Total government transfers $ 1,330,440 $ 3,028,736 $ 9,339,813

Federal transfers include the recognition of Community Works Funds previously recorded as restricted revenue, as
set out in Note 10.

16. Letters of Credit and Performance Bonds

In addition to the deposits reflected in the financial statements, the District is holding irrevocable letters of credit and
performance bonds in the amount of approximately $3.4 million as at December 31, 2015 ($1.7 million as at
December 31, 2014), which were received from various parties to ensure completion of various works within the
District.  These amounts are not reflected in the financial statements but are available to satisfy any liability arising
from non-performance by the parties.

17. Segment Reporting

The District provides a wide range of municipal services. These services have been grouped into related
department functions or service areas for segment reporting purposes in Schedule 2, which shows the associated
revenues and expenses for each segment. The various segments and associated departmental functions or service
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17. Segment Reporting (continued)

areas are as follows:

Administration and Finance

• General Administration: general government administration including Council support, managing legal issues,
conducting elections, records management, and oversight of other departmental areas.

• Finance and Purchasing: financial oversight and management including financial planning and reporting,
investments, property tax collections, procurement of goods and services and operation of central stores.

• Human Resources: recruitment and selection, employee and labour relations, compensation and benefits,
workplace health and safety, organizational learning, corporate training and development.

• Information Technology: planning, maintaining and operating the District’s information systems technology and
infrastructure.

• Grants to Organizations: provides grants to Mission non-profit organizations including arts and culture, recreation
and social services, and community events grants.

General Government and Fiscal Services

• Property taxation, investments, general fund debt servicing, municipal hall shared office services, insurance, and
general cost recovery transactions.

Protective Services

• Police Services: utilizes contracted RCMP members and municipal employees to provide proactive general and
community policing services within the District. Regional integrated police units also provide services to the
community related to homicide investigations, emergency response, traffic re-construction, dog unit assistance, and
forensic identification.

• Fire and Emergency Services: fire response, investigation and prevention services, emergency response services
(for motor vehicle accidents and medical incidents), and emergency planning.

• Bylaw and Inspection Services: administering and enforcing the District’s regulatory bylaws including the building,
business licensing, and dog licensing bylaws.

• Restorative Justice: supports people involved with and affected by crime, conflict and other forms of wrong-doing
in repairing the harms done, rebuilding relationships, restoring trust and transforming community through a
voluntary facilitated process involving victims, accused persons, other affected parties and community members.

• Victim Services: helps victims and their families cope with the effects of crime/trauma by providing emotional
support and information on the status of the police investigation and/or the court case. 

• Emergency Support Services: helps victims meet their basic survival needs during a disaster, and to re-establish
themselves as quickly as possible after a disaster. 
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17. Segment Reporting (continued)

Engineering and Public Works

• Engineering: oversees and plans the District’s extensive infrastructure network of roads, bridges, drainage
systems, etc., and provides for maintenance of municipal facilities.

• Public Works: maintains and builds infrastructure including roads, pedestrian walkways, drainage systems, diking,
and provides for snow removal and efficient operation of the District’s gravel pit.

• Environmental Services: provides direction on environmental issues and leads the District’s commitment to
community-wide stewardship of the natural environment.

• Equipment Fleet: operation and maintenance of the District’s fleet of municipal vehicles and equipment.
Vehicle/equipment costs are charged back to the various user departments.

Transit Services

• Oversees the local bus system (in partnership with the City of Abbotsford), and contributing to the West Coast
Express train and train-bus services between Mission and Vancouver.

Waste Management

• Oversees contracted curbside collection of refuse, compost and recyclables, and is responsible for overseeing
contracted operations at the District’s landfill site.

Development Services

• Planning: land use planning and administration of the District’s Official Community Plan (OCP) and zoning bylaws.

• Economic Development: generating and coordinating economic development, tourism and film activity in the
community.

Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services

• Operation of the District’s recreational facilities including the leisure centre and various parks and trails, and for the
development and implementation of arts and cultural programs/events.

• Social Development: developing and implementing an action oriented social development program aimed at
realizing the District of Mission’s mission statement, which is, “…to build a safe and healthy community abundant in
economic, cultural and recreation opportunities.”

Library

• The Library is a member of Fraser Valley Regional Library system, providing access to books, magazines, DVDs,
CD music, materials in other languages, free downloadable e-books and e-audio books. The library provides
information services including programs for all ages, meeting room and study space, wireless connection, online
instant chat, and basic computer instruction.
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17. Segment Reporting (continued)

Cemetery

• Administration and operation of the District’s cemetery and crematorium, including arranging for burials and
memorials.

Water Utility

• Oversees the regional water supply and treatment systems (in partnership with the City of Abbotsford), and plans
for and maintains the District’s localized water distribution system.

Sewer Utility

• Oversees the regional sewage treatment plant and related source control activities (in partnership with the City of
Abbotsford), and plans for and maintains the District’s localized sewage conveyance system.

Forestry Enterprise

• Administers and operates the Mission Tree Farm forestry operation which includes harvesting of timber, tree
planting, forestry road construction/maintenance, trail building, log marketing, and other forestry related activities.

18. Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures for 2014 have been reclassified to conform to the 2015 financial statement
presentation.

19. Funds Held in Trust

The District administers the following trusts on behalf of third parties. As related trust assets are not owned by the
District, the trusts have been excluded from the financial statements. The following table provides a summary of the
transactions within these trusts during the year:

December
31, 2014 Receipts

Investment
Income Disbursements

December
31, 2015

Cemetery perpetual care trust fund $ 806,156 $ 22,426 $ 16,429 $ (16,429) $ 828,582

Cemetery pre-need sales trust fund - 13,215 444 - 13,659

$ 806,156 $ 35,641 $ 16,873 $ (16,429) $ 842,241
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Schedule 1 - Tangible Capital Assets

Included in total additions are capital assets received from developers through property development activities,
which totalled $4,300,708 in 2015 ($3,719,586 in 2014).

The amount of interest capitalized was $- in 2015 ($- in 2014).

Cost,
December 31,

2014 Additions
Cost of

Disposals

Cost,
December 31,

2015

(Restated - Note 2)

Assets under construction $ 940,754 $ 135,355 $ (241) $ 1,075,868

Buildings and improvements 45,736,940 460,307 (274,000) 45,923,247

Drainage infrastructure 100,272,090 700,738 (32,059) 100,940,769

Information technology infrastructure 2,028,872 222,077 (72,621) 2,178,328

Land 97,549,238 2,100,918 (136,897) 99,513,259

Land improvements 2,113,925 25,587 - 2,139,512

Landfill infrastructure 7,480,011 - - 7,480,011

Parks infrastructure 4,324,404 144,132 - 4,468,536

Recycling depot (regional) 538,274 28,575 (31,699) 535,150

Sewage conveyance infrastructure (local) 48,098,186 907,040 - 49,005,226

Sewage treatment plant (regional) 20,888,562 43,069 (82,281) 20,849,350

Transportation infrastructure 157,327,870 2,793,906 (1,343,398) 158,778,378

Vehicles and equipment 11,490,114 448,606 (455,337) 11,483,383

Water distribution infrastructure (local) 42,958,235 1,586,907 (180,859) 44,364,283

Water supply infrastructure (regional) 24,834,912 395,042 (137,967) 25,091,987

$ 566,582,387 $ 9,992,259 $ (2,747,359) $ 573,827,287
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Accumulated
Amortization, 
December 31,

2014
Amortization

Expense

Accumulated
Amortization on

Disposals

Accumulated
Amortization, 
December 31,

2015

Net Book
Value, 

December 31,
2015

Net Book
Value, 

December 31,
2014

(Restated - Note 2) (Restated - Note 2)

$ - $ - $ - $ - $ 1,075,868 $ 940,754

(11,875,911) (1,038,456) 54,163 (12,860,204) 33,063,043 33,861,029

(22,293,418) (1,049,212) 13,077 (23,329,553) 77,611,216 77,978,672

(1,140,850) (226,828) 72,576 (1,295,102) 883,226 888,022

- - - - 99,513,259 97,549,238

(810,415) (53,935) - (864,350) 1,275,162 1,303,510

(2,917,279) (225,588) - (3,142,867) 4,337,144 4,562,732

(2,219,168) (172,168) - (2,391,336) 2,077,200 2,105,237

(507,768) (8,637) 31,699 (484,706) 50,444 30,506

(11,286,677) (505,545) - (11,792,222) 37,213,004 36,811,509

(7,492,781) (592,712) 62,637 (8,022,856) 12,826,494 13,395,781

(43,436,116) (2,530,817) 529,263 (45,437,670) 113,340,708 113,891,754

(5,330,671) (631,157) 435,695 (5,526,133) 5,957,250 6,159,443

(12,266,799) (562,959) 65,088 (12,764,670) 31,599,613 30,691,436

(6,795,784) (636,227) 91,307 (7,340,704) 17,751,283 18,039,128

$ (128,373,637) $ (8,234,241) $ 1,355,505 $ (135,252,373) $ 438,574,914 $ 438,208,751
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Schedule 2 - Statement of Operations by Segment

Administration
and finance

General
government
and fiscal
services

Protective
services

Engineering
and public

works
Transit

services
Waste

management
Development

services

Revenues

Taxation $ - $ 29,013,813 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -

Sales of services and regulatory fees 155,456 2,651,512 1,339,018 754,683 699,935 4,398,178 208,672

Government transfers 1,623 2,156,190 595,844 57,527 - - 1,995

Amortization of restricted revenue - 214,769 - 117,067 - - -

Investment income - 825,313 - - - - -

Other revenue 17,617 189,388 2,850 - - - -

Developer contributions in-kind
related to capital - - - 3,265,154 - - -

Gain on disposal of tangible capital
assets - - - - - - -

Total revenues 174,696 35,050,985 1,937,712 4,194,431 699,935 4,398,178 210,667

Expenses

Amortization - 334,450 154,913 4,071,674 - 236,288 -

Good and services 708,438 (588,483) 10,540,666 1,250,485 2,795,632 3,446,980 202,487

Grants 398,531 - - - - - 2,000

Interest - 497,146 - - - - -

Salaries and benefits 3,627,209 215,898 4,199,532 3,449,689 8,652 295,129 1,739,821

Loss on disposal of tangible capital
assets - (75,523) 1,225 836,971 - (6,328) -

Total expenses 4,734,178 383,488 14,896,336 9,608,819 2,804,284 3,972,069 1,944,308

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) $ (4,559,482) $ 34,667,497 $(12,958,624) $ (5,414,388) $ (2,104,349) $ 426,109 $ (1,733,641)
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Parks,
recreation

and cultural
services Library Cemetery Water utility Sewer utility

Forestry
enterprise 2015 2014

(Restated -

Note 2)

$ - $ - $ - $ - $ 49,630 $ - $ 29,063,443 $ 28,069,283

2,272,433 3,181 189,762 6,099,090 4,362,697 4,634,382 27,768,999 26,413,396

204,307 - - - - 11,250 3,028,736 9,339,813

- - - 329,162 475,041 - 1,136,039 1,009,311

- - - 250,431 267,133 - 1,342,877 1,320,106

40,197 1,293,712 16,429 399,073 - - 1,959,266 2,068,560

- - - 285,067 750,487 - 4,300,708 3,719,586

- - - - - - - 1,527,274

2,516,937 1,296,893 206,191 7,362,823 5,904,988 4,645,632 68,600,068 73,467,329

1,093,090 - 3,346 1,199,186 1,098,257 43,037 8,234,241 8,106,784

2,275,997 1,363,743 81,621 2,080,967 2,504,953 3,745,349 30,408,835 28,025,111

- - - - - 6,511 407,042 400,402

- - - - - - 497,146 789,297

3,999,984 15,689 170,890 595,186 514,943 632,957 19,465,579 17,780,346

286 - - 162,432 2,024 - 921,087 -

7,369,357 1,379,432 255,857 4,037,771 4,120,177 4,427,854 59,933,930 55,101,940

$ (4,852,420) $ (82,539) $ (49,666) $ 3,325,052 $ 1,784,811 $ 217,778 $ 8,666,138 $ 18,365,389
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Schedule 3 - Long-Term Debt

Debt Issue #
Year

Issued Purpose
Year of
Maturity

Interest
Rate

Principal
Outstanding 
December 31,

2015

Principal
Outstanding 

December 31,
2014

General Debt

68 1998 Firehall/EOC building 2018 4.65%           $ 371,485 $ 483,711

95 2005 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2025 1.80%           1,790,442 1,933,834

99 2006 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2026 4.43%           4,061,050 4,350,592

Total Long-Term Debt $ 6,222,977 $ 6,768,137
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Future Payments (Principal & Interest)

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

$ 130,462 $ 130,462 $ 90,937 $ - $ -

164,285 164,285 164,285 164,285 164,285

490,655 490,655 490,655 490,655 490,655

$ 785,402 $ 785,402 $ 745,877 $ 654,940 $ 654,940
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Schedule 4 - Internal Debt/Transfers Outstanding

Borrowing Fund Lending Fund Purpose
Year Funds
Advanced

Cedar Valley Drainage DCC General Capital Reserve Fund Detention pond D1 2010

Cedar Valley Drainage DCC Major Capital Reserve Fund Gaudin Creek re-alignment, property
purchase 2011

Cedar Valley Sewer DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Cedar Valley gravity trunk sewer,
forcemain, and pump station 2000-2001

Cedar Valley Sewer Extension DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Cedar Valley local improvement area
sewer extension 2002

Land Sale Reserve Fund General Fund Accumulated Surplus Purchase of 7337 Welton Street 2014

Regional Sewage Treatment DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Septage receiving station, biosolids
dewatering, #3 trickling filter, biosolids
storage area 2009

Regional Sewage Treatment DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Stage 7 upgrades and digester gas
upgrades 2010

Regional Sewage Treatment DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Headworks upgrade, transformer
installation 2011

Regional Water Supply DCC Water Capital Reserve Fund Gladwin transmission main 2012

Silverdale Bridge DCC Parkland Reserve Fund Silverdale industrial subdivision bridge 2005

Silverdale Industrial Water DCC Water Capital Reserve Fund Silverdale industrial subdivision water
infrastructure 2006

Silverdale Industrial Sewer DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Silverdale industrial subdivision sewer
infrastructure 2006

Totals

Note: DCC - Development Cost Charge
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Opening
Balance,

December 31,
2014

Advances &
Adjustments Payments

Balance Before
Interest Interest Cost

Interest
Adjustment

Ending
Balance,

December 31,
2015

$ 200,209 $ - $ (200,209) $ - $ 2,012 $ (2,012) $ -

403,490 - (14,560) 388,930 7,964 (7,964) 388,930

1,392,384 - (34,806) 1,357,578 27,637 (27,637) 1,357,578

314,989 - (14,766) 300,223 6,183 (6,183) 300,223

10,682 - (10,682) - - - -

295,954 - (295,954) - 2,974 (2,974) -

110,446 - (110,446) - 1,110 (1,110) -

198,255 - (5,325) 192,930 3,931 (3,931) 192,930

329,163 - (329,163) - 3,308 (3,308) -

767,355 - - 767,355 15,424 (15,424) 767,355

331,048 - - 331,048 6,654 (6,654) 331,048

138,079 - - 138,079 2,775 (2,775) 138,079

$ 4,492,054 $ - $ (1,015,911) $ 3,476,143 $ 79,972 $ (79,972) $ 3,476,143
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Proud to Call Mission Home 
District of Mission Council values its property owners, residents, businesses and volunteers.  Each year volunteers 
are honoured by many different organizations, as well as the District itself. The following are just a few of the many 
volunteers recognized in 2015. 

2015 Business Excellence Awards  

Medal of Merit Award 
(presented by the Vancouver South Lions Club) 

Norm Jacobsen 
 

The Lord Strathcona Medal  
was presented to  

Air Cadet Sgt Noel Horton  
by his grandfather, Stanley Horton,  
a veteran of the Second World War. 

President’s Award 
Carlo Billinger of Rex Cox Men’s Wear 

 
Big Bang Award 

Vancity Savings Credit Union 
 

Power of Small Award 
The Sweet Spot Café 

Local Focus Award 
Trendy or what Knot Yarns and Gifts 

 
Community Builder Award 

The Mission City Farmers Market 
 

Customer First Award 
Lanka Jewels 

Knight of the National Order of the  
Legion of Honour 

(from the Government of the Republic of France) 

was awarded to 

Albert Wells,  
a 99-year old Second World War Veteran. 

Adding to the Mission Legacy 
Kim Gaucher, part of the Canadian Women’s Basketball Team that won gold at the Pan Am Games in 
July in Toronto, Ontario. 

 

Joby McKenzie, inducted to Basketball BC Hall of Fame, was a key member of the Simon Fraser 
University women’s basketball team that won four consecutive conference titles and appeared in the 
national championship four times.  Joby was also a member of the 1998 Canadian national team.  

Special Honours 
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(Source: Finance Department) 

Revenue and Expenses 
Last Five Fiscal Years Comparison 

2011  2012  2013  2014   2015  

Revenue
Taxation 28,712,055$       29,147,989$       27,578,938$       28,069,283$       29,063,443$       
Sales of services & regulatory fees 22,611,625         25,321,075         25,541,436         26,413,396         27,768,999         
Government transfers 4,658,856           1,883,802           3,821,395           9,339,813           3,028,736           
Amortization of restricted revenue 2,549,031           1,892,107           2,237,002           1,009,311           1,136,039           
Investment income 1,089,526           922,008              855,635              1,320,106           1,342,877           
Other revenue 391,884              408,757              1,819,906           2,068,560           1,959,266           
Developer contributions in-kind related to capital 1,067,810           3,398,186           3,184,347           3,719,586           4,300,708           
Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible capital assets -                          -                          (995,632)             1,527,274           -                         

Total revenues 61,080,787$       62,973,924$       64,043,027$       73,467,329$       68,600,068$       

Expenses

Analysis by function
Administration and finance 4,512,807$         4,412,245$         4,203,501$         4,271,812$         4,734,178$         
General government and fiscal services 1,344,932           1,996,378           1,117,682           1,250,294           383,488              
Protective services 13,821,674         13,137,926         13,188,918         13,129,857         14,896,336         
Engineering and public works 10,016,558         7,692,267           7,171,049           7,591,781           9,608,819           
Transit services 2,042,357           2,282,039           2,465,741           2,746,178           2,804,284           
Waste management 4,780,360           4,572,226           4,507,088           4,214,266           3,972,069           
Development services 1,232,657           1,356,210           2,082,628           2,011,276           1,944,308           
Parks, recreation and cultural services 6,144,306           6,359,668           6,483,489           6,674,385           7,369,357           
Library 1,164,141           1,270,747           1,351,476           1,368,089           1,379,432           
Cemetery 237,539              237,132              250,312              256,658              255,857              
Water utility 3,792,363           4,640,389           4,241,014           3,857,166           4,037,771           
Sewer utility 3,235,662           3,257,345           3,578,302           3,565,198           4,120,177           
Forestry enterprise 2,893,761           4,395,939           3,326,097           4,142,343           4,427,854           
Development corporation 31,213                37,550                35,165                22,637                -                         

Total expenses by function 55,250,330$       55,648,061$       54,002,462$       55,101,940$       59,933,930$       

Analysis by object
Amortization 7,382,246$         8,001,235$         7,936,834$         8,106,784$         8,234,241$         
Goods and services 28,150,905         27,916,583         26,725,651         28,025,111         30,408,835         
Grants 453,121              464,892              374,595              400,402              407,042              
Interest 1,185,378           1,101,819           1,069,443           789,297              497,146              
Salaries and benefits 17,761,236         17,764,937         17,895,939         17,780,346         19,465,579         
(Gain) / Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 317,444              398,595              (995,632)             -                          921,087              

Total expenses by object 55,250,330$       55,648,061$       53,006,830$       55,101,940$       59,933,930$       

Annual surplus 5,830,457$         7,325,863$         10,040,565$       18,365,389$       8,666,138$         

Accumulated surplus 438,563,030$     446,247,893$     456,288,458$     482,386,433$     491,052,571$     

Net financial assets 14,137,934$       20,899,110$       29,464,994$       43,342,359$       51,377,734$       
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Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 
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Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 

Expenses by Object 
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Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 
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Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 
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Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 
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Funding Sources for Capital Acquisitions 

Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 

Indicator 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Sustainability indicators:      
Total Assets-to-liabilities 11.16 11.43 11.56 17.39 16.72 
Financial assets-to-liabilities 1.33 1.49 1.68 2.47 2.65 

Flexibility indicators:      
Total debt servicing costs-to-total revenue 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.11 0.02 

Vulnerability indicators:      

Total government transfers-to-total revenues 0.08 0.03 0.06 0.13 0.04 
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(Source: Finance Department) 
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Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 
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Taxation and Assessment 
(Source: BC Assessment Authority & Finance Department)     

Property Tax Collections 
  2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Current taxes levied(1) $45,049,111 $45,596,276 $46,941,332 47,535,735 48,702,405 

Current taxes collected $42,019,608 $42,702,539 $43,985,161 44,872,255 46,388,031 

Current taxes outstanding 
at December  31 $3,029,503 $2,893,737 $2,956,171 2,663,480 2,314,374 

Percentage of current  
taxes collected 93.3% 93.6% 93.7% 94.4% 94.4% 

(1)Includes collections for other authorities and penalties 

 2015 Major Tax Revenue Base  
*Mission Valley Shopping Centre $988,576 *359719 BC Ltd. $75,406 

**BC Hydro $904,857 *Silver Creek Investments Ltd. $73,752 

*RMM Mission Property Inc. $488,687 *BC Custom Car Association $70,918 

**Correction Services Canada    $445,259 *Jayberg Enterprises Ltd. $68,081 

*Loblaw Properties West Inc. $431,132 *Delesalle Holdings $64,173 

*Mission City Holdings Ltd. $246,084 *Madison Development Corp. $63,868 

*Daro Developments Ltd. $196,029 *Cressey Development Corp. $63,773 

*Snowcat Property Holdings Ltd. $180,189 ****Telus and Subsidiaries   $60,929 

*Canadian Pacific Railway $179,289 *Mamele’awt Qweesome Housing  $60,747 

*Genstar Titleco Ltd. $142,597 *LLRC Investments Ltd. $60,245 

*Mission Western Developments $142,096 *Solterra Development $60,116 

*Canadian Tire Real Estate Ltd. $139,738 *460112 BC Ltd. $59,910 

*Lonsdale Mews Ltd $134,520 *1018532 BC Ltd. $56,566 

****Fortis BC (Terasen Gas) $120,931 *BC Frozen Foods Ltd $56,565 

*2245781 Ontario Inc. $105,662 *Mission Ridge Holdings Inc. $53,820 

*493989 BC Ltd. $95,281 *Atlanta Carpets Inc. $53,679 

*Baltic Properties (Mission) 2014 $91,209 *Mauricon Developments Ltd $51,793 

*JNJJ Enterprises Ltd. $86,936 ***Shaw Communications $51,257 

*Anayat Holdings Ltd. $79,033 TOTAL $6,303,863 
*Includes municipal, policing and library taxes,  
**Includes grants in lieu,  
***Includes 1% utility taxes, and  
****Includes municipal, policing and library and 1% utility taxes. 
Does not include special levies, utilities, and taxes levied by other taxing authorities. 
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Taxation and Assessment 
(Source: BC Assessment Authority & Finance Department)     

  2011 2012 2013 2014 
Residential $4,521,275,901 $4,518,726,001 $4,569,178,787 $4,448,740,313 

Utilities 5,056,835 5,397,665 5,581,385 5,831,765 

Light Industry 67,367,600 69,435,700 71,332,400 71,258,100 

Business/Other 351,305,405 376,647,505 397,008,005 422,787,005 

Managed Forest 93,900 86,200 82,500 129,400 

Recreational /Non-Profit 13,134,200 12,496,200 12,205,100 13,377,100 

Farm 3,134,776 3,094,438 3,027,865 3,202,300 

TOTAL $4,961,368,617 $4,985,883,709 $5,058,416,042 $4,965,325,983 

2015 
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2015 Permissive Tax Exemptions 
(Source: BC Assessment Authority & Finance Department) 

 Name of Organization 
Monetary Value 

of Exempt 
Municipal Taxes 

* Monetary Value 
of Other Exempt 

Taxes 

** Monetary 
Value of all Tax                

Exemptions 
All Saints Anglican Church and Manse  $       2,370 $       980 $       3,350 
Bethel Pentecostal Assembly  10,671 3,748 14,419 
Cedar Valley Mennonite Church  9,981 3,505 13,486 
Christian Missionary Alliance Church  6,634 2,330 8,964 
Four Square Gospel Church  3,248 1,141 4,389 
Fraser House Society  2,923 1,510 4,433 
Greek Orthodox Church  2,962 1,041 4,003 
Mission Arts Council  7,626 4,462 12,088 
Mission Association for Community Living  11,697 6,040 17,737 
Mission Association for Seniors’ Housing  30,209 15,599 45,808 
Mission Community Services Society  23,156 13,307 36,462 
Mission Daycare Society  7,547 3,896 11,443 
Mission District Historical Society   3,699 1,498 5,197 
Mission Elk’s Lodge #30   3,694 1,297 4,991 
Mission Evangelical Free Church   1,992 699 2,691 

Mission Friendship Centre Society  6,074 2,134 8,208 

Mission Gur Sikh Society   37,284 13,094 50,378 
Mission Horse Club   4,178 1,502 5,680 
Mission Hospice Society 1,597 824 2,421 
Mission Regional Chamber of Commerce  7,824 4,578 12,402 
Mission Zion Christian Fellowship  1,256 441 1,697 
Mt. Calvary Lutheran Church  6,030 2,118 8,148 

New Horizon’s Lawn Bowling Society  4,143 1,521 5,664 
North Valley Baptist Church  9,899 3,477 13,376 
Pleasant View Housing Society 1980  47,007 24,271 71,278 
Royal Canadian Legion Branch #57  5,781 2,030 7,811 
Seventh Day Adventists  1,870 657 2,527 
Silverdale Community Centre  5,731 2,238 7,969 

Silverhill Hall Association  2,451 861 3,312 

St. Clare’s Monastery  10,530 3,698 14,228 
St. Joseph’s Catholic Church  8,127 2,854 10,981 

St. Paul’s Presbyterian Church  13,153 4,619 17,772 

Steelhead Community Association  6,005 3,514 9,519 
Sto:Lo Heritage Trust Society  16,991 9,715 26,706 
The Mel Jr. and Marty Zajac Foundation  58,870 32,733 91,603 
Trustee of Mission Congregation of Jehovah’s 
Witnesses  3,822 1,342 5,164 

Trustees of the Mission City Congregation of Church 
of God (7th Day) 1,971 692 2,663 

Union Gospel Mission  1,120 578 1,698 

Universal Hua Tsang Monastery  4,213 1,480 5,693 

Valley Christian School 3,988 1,401 5,389 

West Heights Gospel Chapel  2,430 853 3,283 

Women’s Resource Society of the Fraser Valley  12,266 6,768 19,034 

Totals $   422,724 $   194,453 $   617,177 

* Includes school taxes and Fraser Valley Regional District, Fraser Valley Regional Hospital, BC Assessment, and Municipal Finance Authority levies. 

** Does not include statutory tax exemptions provided to church property via provincial legislation. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

St. Andrew’s United Church 9,704  3,408  13,112 
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 Municipally Funded Community Grants 
(Source: Corporate Services Department) 

Fee-For-Service Grants 

Name of Organization  Grant 
Amount 

Fraser Valley Humane Society $    30,000 
Lifetime Learning Centre Society 9,000 
Mission Adopt A Block 35,000 
Mission Arts Council  23,500 
Mission Association for Seniors’ Housing  3,000 
Mission District Historical Society 80,000 
Mission Heritage Association 11,356 
Mission Search ‘n Rescue 4,737 
New Horizons Lawn Bowling 5,000 

TOTAL $  201,593 

Community Enhancement Grants 

 Name of Organization  Grant 
Amount 

Big Brothers Big Sisters of the Fraser Valley $    2,500 
Communitas Supportive Care Society 1,275 
Greater Vancouver Youth Unlimited 7,500 
Hope Central (New Heights Church) 9,000 
Joy Vox Community Choir Society 500 
Mission Artists Association 300 
Mission Arts Council 3,000 
Mission City Boxing Association 2,000 
Mission City Farmers Market Society 3,000 
Mission Community Services Society 8,000 

Mission Downtown Business Association 7,400 

Mission Elks Lodge 1,000 

Mission Friendship Centre Society 3,000 

Mission Friends of the Library 1,000 

Mission Genealogy Club 500 
Mission Heritage Association 13,500 
Mission Hospice Society 1,500 
Mission Marlins Swim Club 1,000 
Mission Minor Football Association 4,500 
Mission Minor Lacrosse Club 1,000 

Mission Seniors Centre Association 1,000 

Opening Nite Theatre Society 4,500 
Optimist Club of Mission 3,000 
Serenata Singers 500 
Special Olympics BC - Mission 2,000 
Steelhead Community Association 2,000 
Valley Singers 500 

TOTAL $   84,975 

Community Event Grants 

Name of Organization  Grant 
Amount 

Fraser Valley Bald Eagle Festival Society $      4,100 

Mission Association for Community Living  5,000 

Mission Community Services Society  2,000 

Mission District Historical Society 3,000 

Mission & District Soapbox Derby Association 5,000 
Mission Downtown Business Association 3,500 
Mission Heritage Association 16,000 

Royal Canadian Legion 5,000 
TOTAL $   43,600 

The Municipally Funded Grants Program assists local not‐for‐profit incorporated organiza ons and community groups 
with delivery of  services to the community that otherwise would likely be offered by the District, and events and services 
that facilitate the arts, cultural, recrea onal or social services func ons.  

A select commi ee reviews all the applica ons and prepares a report with recommenda ons to Mayor and Council who 
consider the requests and make the final decision. 

Community Enhancement Grants assist organiza ons in the provision of local community focused ac vi es. The grants 
are awarded to Mission‐based community groups in the fields of arts, cultural, recrea onal or social services.  

Fee‐for‐Service grants primarily support a service or program that otherwise would likely be offered by the District.   

Community Event Grants support recurring events that Council has pre‐determined provide a significant benefit to the 
broader community and are open to all members of the public without charge. 

Other Grants & Assistance 

Name of Organization  Grant 
Amount 

Clarke Theatre $    73,100 

Downtown Façade Program 2,000 

Steelhead Community Association 6,511 

United Way - Emergency Transit Assistance 13,905 

TOTAL $   95,516 
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Development 
(Source: Development Services) 
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Crime Category 
(reported incidents) 

2012 2013 2014 2015 
% Change 
2014/15 

Break & Enter Residential 207 118 131 158 21% 

Break & Enter Business 46 76 59 102 73% 

Theft of Vehicle 131 149 206 243 18% 

Theft from Vehicle 608 443 433 711 64% 

Assault 253 259 238 296 24% 

Property Damage 486 503 476 563 18% 

Shoplifting 184 163 169 180 7% 

Calls for Service 13,350 13,175 13,734 15,566 13% 

Property Crime 2,261 2,094 2,209 2,771 25% 

Violent Crime 549 519 478 597 25% 

Violent Crime (without harassing 

communications and uttering threats files) 
339 339 328 402 23% 

Domestic Violence 106 103 70 67 -4% 

Domestic  Violence (Investigations) 192 209 162 181 12% 

Police Protection 2014 2015 
Police Contract Strength* 50 50 

Police Budgeted Strength** 47 50 

Police Actual Strength*** 47 46 

Police to Population Ratio  (contract strength) 1/751 1/734 

Crime Rate (per 1,000 population) 96.6 123.0 

Criminal Code Offences 3,626 4,608 
*Contract strength = number of police officer positions approved for funding by municipality 
**Budgeted strength = number of police officer positions funded by municipality 
***Actual strength = number of actual police officer positions utilized.  Does not include integrated 
teams 
All Crime Statistics are preliminary until verified and published by the Canadian  Centre for Justice 
Statistics 
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  2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Voters on Voter’s List 24,281 24,281 24,281 24,798 24,798 

Municipal Employees (FTEs) 204.8 198.0 195.6 196.8 206.9 

Number of “Hits” on the District website 226,251 261,073 281,397 348,135 402,800 

Number of Facebook/Twitter followers (combined) Started tracking  in 2015 4,456 

Number of Tax notices mailed out 13,706 13,755 13,871 14,012 14,102 

Number of Development Applications  102 90 90 58 66 

Number of Dog Licenses Issued 6,008 6,136 5,843 6,110 5,966 

Number of Filming Permits Issued 4 13 9 8 21 

Number of active business older than 10 years 534 548 542 548 528 

Yearly Average Public Transit Ridership 509,966 520,000 531,692 N/A N/A 

Number of Leisure Centre Pool Visits 186,944 198,072 203,233 205,029 202,908 

Number of Leisure Centre Fitness Room Visits 113,404 93,035 93,320 92,675 91,878 

Number of Youth Lounge Visits 4,579 2,788 3,576 4,262 3,944 

Number of Paid On-Call Fire Fighters 66 66 76 78 80 

Number of Response Calls 1,220 1,287 1,613 1,433 1,927 

Number of Municipal Fire Hydrants 1,023 1,026 1,026 1,026 1,044 

Total Paved Roads (kms) 287 292 293 297 281 

Total Sanitary Sewer Pipes (kms) 150 151 152 152 154 

Total Water Pipes (kms) 188 189 189 191 192 

Compost Diversion (tonnes) 
(curbside food & yard waste & landfill green waste)  

3,000 3,935 3,774 4,062 3,737 

Compost Give-Away (tonnes) 
(once a year “thank you” to residents started in 2012) 

N/A 79 210 227 328 

Curbside Garbage (tonnes) 3,800 3,741 3,790 3,882 3,901 

Curbside, Landfill, Recycling Centre Recyclables 
(tonnes)  1,860 2,675 2,460 2,328 2,620 

Number of Seedlings Planted (per year) 64,420 70,270 89,800 76,460 68,895 

Area of Manual Brushing (hectares) 49.8 43.1 41.1 70 26 

Number of single family lots created N/A 92 83 29 47 

 Compost Give-Away (number of residents participated) N/A 166 358 420 480 

Employees participating in corporate training N/A 243 296* 37 40 

Household Hazardous Waste Day (tonnes) 4.8 3.9 5.6 5.7 4.9 

Household Hazardous Waste Day  
(number of residents participated) 

164 179 N/A 132 110 

Miscellaneous 
(Source: Various Departments of the District of Mission and BC Stats)     

*2013 numbers for corporate training include paid on-call fire fighters 
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Glossary of Terms 

Amortization:   

The deduction of capital expenses over a specific 
period of time (usually over the asset’s life).  This 
measures the consumption of the value of capital 
assets. 

Budget:   

A financial plan that sets out all planned revenues 
and expenditures for the budget period. 

Capital Funding:   
The funding provided for capital projects through 
operating budget contributions, reserves, debt, 
grants from other levels of government, or other 
sources. 

Debt Limit:   
The Provincially legislated limit by which a 
municipality may incur debt (an obligation resulting 
from the borrowing of money).  Debt servicing costs 
(i.e. principal and interest) may not exceed 25% of the 
previous year’s revenue. Incurring debt beyond these  
limits requires prior Provincial Government approval. 

Development Cost Charges (DCCs):   
A fee charged to new developments to pay for the 
cost of capital infrastructure required as a result of 
growth. 

Fiscal Year:   
A twelve-month period designated as the operating 
year for accounting and budgeting purposes in an 
organization. The District’s fiscal year is January to 
December.  

Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Positions:   
Conversion of full and part-time positions to the 
decimal equivalent of full-time positions based on full
-time hours.  For example, an employee who works 
twenty-six weeks in a year would be equivalent to 
0.50 of a full-time position. 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP):   
Uniform minimum standards for financial accounting 
and recording, encompassing the conventions, rules 
and procedures that define accepted accounting    
principles. 

Management Letter:   
An auxiliary letter that is produced by the auditor as 
part of the annual financial statement audit which 
provides recommendations for improving internal 
controls and other business practices. 

 

Municipal Finance Authority (MFA):  
A provincial organization that provides for marketing, 
placement, and administration of all municipal debt     
requirements.  This Authority also operates an   
investment pool on behalf of municipalities. 

Permissive Tax Exemptions:   
The authority that Council has under the Community 
Charter to exempt certain charitable or philanthropic 
organizations from property taxes.  

Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB):   
The body of the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (CICA) that issues recommendations 
and guidance with respect to matters of accounting in 
the public sector.  Its aim is to improve the financial 
and performance information reported by 
governments and other public sector entities for the 
benefit of decision makers and other users of the 
information. The District of Mission adheres to PSABs 
Public Sector Standards for Municipal Financial 
Reporting. 

Regional Water and Sewer Utilities:   
The water supply and sewage treatment systems that 
are jointly owned, governed and administered by the 
District of Mission and the City of Abbotsford. 

Structural Deficit:   
The practice of underestimating expenses or 
overstating revenues when it is more likely that the 
expenses will be higher or the revenues will be lower, 
thus creating a budget shortfall. 

Surplus:   
(Accumulated)  Net economic resources; the amount 
by which all assets, both financial and non-financial 
exceed all liabilities and indicates that a government 
has net resources available to provide future services.  
(Annual)  The difference between annual revenues 
and expenses.  If positive it is referred to as Annual 
Surplus, if negative, it is an Annual Deficit. 

Tangible Capital Assets:    
Non-financial assets which have physical substance 
that are held for use in the production or supply of 
goods and services, have economic lives extending 
beyond one year, and are to be used on an ongoing 
basis. 



Audit:   

District of Mission 2015 Annual 
Report is printed responsibly on 
recycled paper. 

Our purpose is to build a safe and 
healthy community abundant in 
economic, cultural and 
recreational opportunities 
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